
 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee C 
 

Tuesday May 12 2009 
7.00 pm 

Town Hall, Peckham Road, London SE5 8UB 
 
 

Membership 
 

Reserves 
 

Councillor Toby Eckersley (Chair) 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai (Vice-
Chair) 
Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle 
Councillor Aubyn Graham 
Councillor Richard Livingstone 
Councillor Jane Salmon 
Councillor Mackie Sheik 
 

Councillor James Barber 
Councillor Mary Foulkes OBE 
Councillor Robin Crookshank Hilton 
Councillor Adedokun Lasaki 
Councillor Robert Smeath 
 

 
INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 
Access to information 

You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports on this agenda as 
well as the background documents used in the preparation of these reports. 

Babysitting/Carers allowances 

If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look after your children, an 
elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could attend this meeting, 
you may claim an allowance from the council.  Please collect a claim form at the meeting. 

Access 

The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on building 
access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web site: 
www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below. 

Contact 
Sally Masson on 020 7525 7224 or email: sally.masson@southwark.gov.uk 
 
 
Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting 
Annie Shepperd 
Chief Executive 
Date: May 5 2009 
 

 
 

Open Agenda



 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee C 
 

Tuesday May 12 2009 
7.00 pm 

Town Hall, Peckham Road, London SE5 8UB 
 
 

Order of Business 
 

 
Item No. Title Page No. 
 

 PART A - OPEN BUSINESS 
 

 

1. APOLOGIES 
 

 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT 

 

 

 In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear working days of the meeting. 
 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
 

 

 Members to declare any personal interests and dispensation in respect of 
any item of business to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

4. MINUTES 
 

1 - 6 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the open section of the 
meeting held on March 23 2009. 
 

 

5. STRENGTHENING THE CENSUS WORK FOR THE 2011 COUNT 
 

7 - 96 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER OPEN ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING. 
 

 

 PART B - CLOSED BUSINESS 
 

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER CLOSED ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS 
URGENT. 
 

 

 
Date:  May 5 2009 
 



 
 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee C (Open) – Ordinary – March 23 2009 

1 

 
SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE C 

 
MINUTES of the OPEN section of the meeting of SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE C 
held on MONDAY MARCH 23 2009 at 7.00 P.M. at the Town Hall, Peckham Road, 
London SE5 8UB 

           _____________________________________________________________________ 
 

PRESENT: Councillor Toby Eckersley (Chair) 
Councillor Jane Salmon 
Councillor Mackie Sheik 

OFFICER 
SUPPORT: 

Duncan Whitfield – Director of Finance  
Fran Biggs – Electoral Services Manager 
Ian Farrow – Communications and Public Affairs 
Consultant 
Dan Gilby – Corporate Policy Officer 
Neil Wilcox – London Government Futures 
Kwabena Owusu-Agyemang – Analytical Hub Manager 
Sally Masson – Scrutiny Project Manager 
 

 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Anood Al-Samerai (Vice-
Chair) and Dora Dixon-Fyle. 

 
NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMED 
URGENT 
 
The Chair accepted supplemental agenda 1 as late and urgent. 

 
DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
 
There were none. 

 
MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the open section of the meeting held on 

January 26th  2009 be agreed as a correct record. 
 
1. Planning Enforcement. 
  

Agenda Item 4
1



 
 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee C (Open) – Ordinary – March 23 2009 

2 

1.1 The Chair took the short item of planning enforcement first.  The Chair thanked 
Councillor Nardell for his concise and helpful notes on the issue.  It was decided 
that with the consent of the OSC that this item is taken on next year’s work 
programme.  The committee agreed. 

  
2. CENSUS AND MIGRATION  
  
2.1 The meeting discussed the financial impact on Southwark and the basis for the 3 

year settlement.  There needs to be focus on certain aspects of undercounting 
and what happens between the local count and the initial stages of recording.  
Consideration also needs to be given to Southwark’s role in the preparations for 
the census and what we want to achieve.  The sub-committee would like to make 
crisp recommendations regarding any improvements that can be made to 
enhance funding for the borough and it’s unique population. 

  
2.2 Members felt that it was important to get the counting right for the census by using 

other important data sources, such as GP surgeries.  The challenge for all is how 
to bring the strands of work together and develop a coordinated approach.   

  
2.3 Neil Wilcox from Local Government Futures gave a presentation to the sub-

committee on the main issues facing Southwark. (See appendix 1) 
  
2.4 The presentation aimed to set out what the problems are, what has been 

happening so far and what the financial impact on Southwark will be.  
  
2.5 In respect of migration, current census counting is based on the passenger 

surveys and will incorporate the labour force survey.  Both of these elements are 
acknowledged as an inaccurate method of counting.   It was reported that ONS 
are making efforts to improve their systems.   

  
2.6 There are problems getting an accurate picture of who is in the borough especially 

in places where there is communal housing and densely packed environments 
where there is a more transient population.  The passenger and workforce 
surveys were not designed to capture social groups in these situations and 
therefore these groups easily miss the count.  There was some doubt as to how 
reliable the workforce survey data was. 

  
2.7 There was evidence to suggest that when challenged, those coming into the 

country may not necessarily know where they might be staying and so give 
unclear/inaccurate information to the authorities which is not followed up or 
monitored in any way.  

  
2.8 There seemed to be an array of different methods of counting from varying 

sources in an uncoordinated way.  For instance, it was thought that the 
Department for Work and Pensions possibly has the best statistics to work with 
but to incorporate this information into anything meaningful for census purposes is 
still underdeveloped.   

  

2



 
 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee C (Open) – Ordinary – March 23 2009 

3 

2.9 There are still issues around: 
• Lack of information on emigration as apposed to immigration 
• Passenger surveys were not designed for population monitoring and so 

the process lacks robustness. 
• To obtain visas, individuals have to state where they intend to reside but 

this is not followed up. 
• Depopulation should also be looked at. 
 

2.10 It was acknowledged that the labourforce data was not ideal but in view of the fact 
that there are no alternatives, this is all ONS have to work with at the current time. 
ONS are also aware that they are not actively involving all community groups in 
their recording processes.  
 

2.11 Officers detailed the implications for funding on Southwark.  The additional grant 
based on realistic population was £5 million per financial year from 2002 to 2006.  
The additional grant based on realistic population per financial year from 2006 – 
was £4 million and £5 million in 2007/8.  
 

2.12 Future revisions include: 
• Immigration/emigration modelling 
• Port survey review 
• Short term migration (those individuals who have been here between 3 – 

12 months) 
• Integrated household survey – although it was not known what the survey 

is expected to ask.  ONS have not given any details of their proposals or if 
they will be working more closely with local councils.  It is expected that 
the survey will be brought in during the summer 2009. 

 
2.13 It is unclear how ONS are recording the increase in sample sizes or what 

questions they are proposing to ask.  It was thought that we needed to support 
ONS wherever possible. 
 

2.14 Obtaining cooperation from communities in answering the census questions is 
difficult.  People can feel afraid of divulging any/too much information which could 
lead them to become more visible to the authorities.  It was thought that recording 
refusals to answer, might be useful.      
 

2.15 In December 2009, the new models of working will be up and running, including a 
new immigration model which will make use of administrative data from sources 
such as the National Insurance and GP registrations.     
 

2.16 It was thought that local governments should recommend to ONS that they place 
experts on panels who influence the ‘sense checking’ remit.  This starts in June. It 
was thought that there should be alternative data to be mobilised to sense check 
that will carry weight.  It was thought that it would be of very little value after the 
event and the question is how do we mobilise the sense check in advance.  There 
is a push for the early release of modelling methodology and a lobby for change if 
it is needed.  There have been problems collecting electoral returns and there is a 
need to get indicative examples to try to drill down to more detail.  Southwark are 
landlords and could legitimately go into areas where there is large social housing. 
   

3



 
 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee C (Open) – Ordinary – March 23 2009 

4 

2.17 It was recommended in the Task Force revisions document: ‘That the council 
monitor, engage and where appropriate lobby against any short term revisions to 
population projections that are likely to adversely affect the borough’s population 
estimates.’  It was not thought that there was anything suspicious in this process, 
although it was thought that if there was more in-depth investigation into urban 
decay areas in particular, the figures would most likely be skewed.   
 

2.18 With regards to improvements it was stated that the changes to migration 
estimates will be retrospective and alter the council’s population figures as far 
back as 2002.  There was no inference on settlement figures and the Council 
needed to be alert to that.   
 

2.19 The Chair noted the following actions for Southwark, taken from the Task Force 
document: 

1. London attracts a considerable amount of short term migration. The 
council should consider if Southwark also attracts migration of this nature 
and lobby for the inclusion of these in any future funding settlement. 

2. The council needs further information concerning migration indicators 
3. What quality assurance measures will be sued to sense check estimates?  

 
2.20 The International Passenger Survey is conducted at a number of ports of entry 

and samples only 0.2% of what is believed to be all passengers arriving in the UK. 
 Officers commented that there are 125 million arrivals and a proportion of that 
are not always going to be forthcoming about where they are staying. 
 

2.21 Re page 3 of the Task Force document: ‘The numbers of port entries are then 
apportioned to local authority level using formula based analysis using the 2001  
census data on migrants’.  The sub-committee wanted to know  what questions 
were being asked such as ‘where were you the year before?’ There should be a 
similar proportionate method for labour force methodology.   There seems to be 
some discrepancy in the current information based on the IMPS answers. 
 

2.22 It was thought that it could be problematic seeing the minutes of the Migration 
Statistics Improvement Programme although it is possible that they could be 
sought under the freedom of information act. 
 

2.23 Members felt that the e-Boarders system which will cover 60% of passenger 
numbers by the end of 2009, could be very valuable; indeed the answer to the 
tracking of migration.   
 

2.24 Households underrepresented in the Labour Force Survey are: 
• Households in London 
• Those rented from Housing Association or with job 
• Those in converted or shared accommodation 
• Households with three or more cars or vans 
• Those comprising only 1 adult, aged 16-19 
• Those with head of household aged 16-24 
• Those with only single head of household 
• Those with the head born in New Commonwealth country. 

 

4



 
 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee C (Open) – Ordinary – March 23 2009 

5 

2.25 It was felt that Southwark ticked almost all of the boxes for extra funding however, 
Members wanted to know to what degree is Southwark different from the National 
average?  It was felt that ONS needed to pin point just how difficult it is to count 
populations in the borough.  
 

2.26 Local Authority Studies:  Analysis of data and evidence for Southwark.  The 2004 
figures had been under-estimated and more fundamental work was needed to 
look at issues such as unprocessed forms and forms that were not returned.  The 
Chair thought that a basic guide to the key methods of imputing was needed, this 
might also set out what the actual census process is in Southwark.   
 

2.27 Officers informed the committee that future work based on the Camden test, will 
include ONS using Local Land and Property Gazetteer (LLPG) data sets.  There 
are still discrepancies which Southwark itself needs to improve.  There will be a 
sharing of data which has been sought from hard to reach areas, although it was 
thought that there will be a significant under response.  There will be a 
relationship between ONS and Southwark enumerators who will work together to 
capture multiple occupation households.  There will also be awareness raising 
amongst the local population to the benefits of the census exercise.  There is still 
work to be done to find out how to get communities and their ‘gate keepers’ 
involved.   
 

2.28 Members wanted to know what happened at ONS when 25% of all forms are not 
returned?    
 

2.29 The Chair thought it would be useful if there was a document to outline how a 
census was run.   
 

2.30 It was said that the potential impact on grants was significant because the formula 
is so out of sync at the moment. It was thought that a workshop should be set up 
to look at how to maximise returns and to gain a clear understanding as to where 
there are current short falls.   
 

2.31 There is a need to find out where there are gaps in process and it was mentioned 
that every borough will have similar problems.  It was important to know which 
areas need to be targeted in an attempt to join up all strands of work.   
 

2.32 It was thought that schools needed to be looked at more closely with the 
possibility of incorporating data generated by them to gain greater detail.   
 

2.33 Dulwich and Aylesbury are very different places with a varying set of needs.  
Southwark didn’t know how much ONS are willing to give more detail as to how 
they will vary/tailor their work  to suit these individual areas. 
 

2.34 It was thought that the LGA and London Councils could support Southwark more 
closely but Southwark was not sure how to strengthen engagement with both 
agencies in a more effective way. 
   

2.35 It was agreed that Duncan Whitfield should set up a workshop looking at how a 
census is run and how the data is imputed.  The second part of the work by 
Officers and Members will outline the awareness campaign which will include 
exercises such as publicising the work locally and with groups such as the tenants 
council.   
 

5



 
 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee C (Open) – Ordinary – March 23 2009 

6 

2.36 Officers said that they were also looking at Newham with a view to asking ONS 
what came out of the rehearsal process.   
 

2.37 Officers were also considering working with CIDU and neighbourhoods with a 
view to maximising the impact of publicity.   
 

2.38 It was thought that HMOs should be discussed at the workshop to try to use the 
licensing requirements to help with census returns, as each household should 
receive a census form.   
 

2.39 There was good sample work done in Slough and Officers agreed that they would 
keep an eye on how things were working there.  Officers also agreed that they 
would include work on post census activity   
 

2.40 Work should continue to be strengthened in the community with an attempt to 
change behaviour towards the census, perhaps involving community councils and 
more work in schools. 
 

2.41 It was thought that there are inconsistencies in the nature of the adjustments in 
GP counting.  There were numbers still on the books who may now be deceased. 
Or there could be people listed who have now moved.  Cross checking between 
GPs and PCTs could help to inform a more accurate picture of what was 
happening borough wide.  It maybe that there could be pressure brought on PCTs 
to find out what king of data they collect and how it could be used in conjunction 
with the census count.   
 

2.42 Kwabena Owusu-Agyemang to provide the Southwark Neighbourhood Analytical 
Project (SNAP) summary to the committee.  

  
  
  
  
  
  
 The meeting concluded at 10pm. 
 

6



 1

 

 
CENSUS LOCAL AUTHORITY LIAISON 

 
ACTION PLAN - 2009 REHEARSAL 

 
Background 

 
1 It is clear that it will be mutually beneficial for Local Authorities (LAs) and the Office for 
National Statistics (ONS) to work in partnership in the conduct of the 2009 Census Rehearsal 
and the 2011 Census.  ONS wish to benefit from LA resources and the invaluable knowledge 
of their local areas to improve the enumeration process. In particular LAs have experience and 
contacts including: 
 
• knowledge of the profile of local areas and factors that may make them hard to enumerate, 
such as language problems; 
• experience of similar operations such as electoral registration and postal elections; and 
• contacts with a wider range of local organisations such as the police, student groups, 
housing associations, religious groups etc, particularly coming together through their Local 
Strategic Partnerships (or Community First networks in Wales) and, in some areas,  through 
postal voting (which will increase before 2011). 
 
Engagement with LAs forms part of the wider Census 2011 Stakeholder Management 
Strategy.  
The aims of LA liaison are to work in partnership with LAs to help improve the overall rate of 
return in each LA, minimise the differential return rates for specific population groups and 
geographies, and minimise any risk that LAs may not have confidence in the results. 
Engagement with the LAs chosen for Rehearsal began with, in March 2008, an introductory 
letter from the 2011 Census Director to LA Chief Executives, asking them to appoint two 
Liaison Managers to work with the ONS. 
In April 2008 Contact was made by the LA Liaison team to each Census Liaison Manager 
(CLM) and Assistant Census Liaison Manager (ACLM) creating a relationship that will last 
through to, and beyond, 2011. All on-going contact during this time will be through this 
channel, including Census Technical Leads and other Census Managers who will contact the 
ACLMs direct for information and assistance (copying details to the LA Liaison team).This 
liaison channel also applies to Census Area Managers and Census Coordinators who contact 
ACLMs for area profile, safety information and logistics. 
In November 2008, there are 7 workshops in various locations in England and Wales designed 
to inform and raise the profile of the Census generally but the Rehearsal specifically. At this 
time the Census directors will meet with Rehearsal LA Chief Executives (CE). 
To make any adjustments for the 2011 Census there will be an evaluation of LA Liaison 
following Rehearsal but with the address check evaluation taking place earlier between June 
and July 2009. 
 

Agenda Item 5
7



 2

2 The specific areas identified for partnership working include:  
 
• Address Register development to ensure fullest coverage;  
• Enumeration intelligence for targeting of delivery methods and follow-up resources; 
• Identifying and developing Community Liaison contacts; 
• Recruitment and logistics; and 
• Publicity. 
• Provision of local information to support Data Quality Assurance. 
 
3 This paper sets out an Action Plan to develop and test strategies for such partnership 
working as part of the 2009 Census Rehearsal.   
 
Table 1 Overview timetable for LA Liaison processes 
 
June 08 - Dec 09 Implementation of partnership strategies during 2009 Rehearsal. 

Sept 09 - Feb 10 Evaluation of effectiveness of strategies during Rehearsal; revision and 
agreement; increased communication to all LAs. 

                                                         

Address register development 

4 LA support is required to resolve addressing anomalies identified by the ONS matching of 
the three main address products (NLPG, PAF and OS AL2).  Specifically LAs will be asked to 
review and resolve unmatched addresses in their LLPGs using their local expertise, experience 
and additional sources of data. This will support other ONS initiatives to develop the best 
possible address register to underpin Census enumeration, including: an address checking 
exercise ahead of the Census targeted in small areas where the address registers are most 
uncertain; and, an ongoing change management process that will enable late changes and 
improvements to the address products to contribute to the Census address register.  This 
process has been designed to provide the best possible address register, using the resources 
available, and to provide key stakeholders with confidence in the quality of the address register 
underpinning the Census and thus Census outputs.   
 
5 ODPM (now CLG) announced the development of the National Spatial Address 
Infrastructure (NSAI), a partnership between ODPM, Ordnance Survey (OS) and the 
Improvement and Development Agency (IDeA). 
 
• all postal points/addresses; 
• all households/dwellings at multi-occupied addresses; 
• all communal establishments; 
• all business addresses; 
• all non-residential addresses; and 
• other objects (potentially useful for local activities that are not address-based). 
 
6 In June 2007 Communities and Local Government (CLG), ex-ODPM announced it would 
not be carrying out further work on the NSAI.  As a result, ONS is looking at ways in which 
the separate OS and IDeA initiatives can be combined with the Royal Mail products to create 
an address register fit for Census purposes.   

 

8



 3

7 Irrespective of the outcome of its own assessment of national address products, ONS is 
committed to ensuring that Local Authorities are actively involved in the quality assurance of 
procedures for carrying out the next Census. A significant part of this quality assurance will be 
associated with addresses. 
 
8 The areas where ONS is particularly seeking LAs’ engagement to be associated with are: 
 
• Address verification 
• Address churn and dynamics 
• Address check area selection 
• LA support and ‘Buy-in’ 
• Strategy for engaging key stakeholders 
• Assessing risk 
 
The 2011 enumeration must begin with a shared understanding of the quality of the address 
base and with agreement on procedures for improving and maintaining it. 
 
Address coverage 
 
9 ONS is seeking to work with LAs on ensuring that the 2011 enumeration begins with the 
best possible address coverage. Assuming that the most up to date sources are used then the 
main area for improvement is likely to be in the identification of multiple occupation at a 
single postal address. This is the situation where more than one unit of accommodation exists 
behind a single delivery point. Sub-premise addresses are likely to be identified by further 
address detail such as flat number. 
 
 
Action Plan 
 
10 ONS is proposing that: 
 
• Liaison workshops will be held with those LAs that have agreed their participation, for the 
original 24 selected for evaluation and analysis, as well as the Rehearsal LAs. 

 
• These workshops will be designed to allow ONS to present their Census Addressing 
Strategy and plans for working with LAs during address checking field exercises later in 2008 
to these participating LAs. 
 
• ONS will provide all participating LAs with suitable, relevant supporting material (e.g. a 
list of address uncertainties specifically for their LA, guidance material, key statistics) as well 
as address counts for each participating LA developed during their address-matching exercises 
performed in-house. These are to be passed as a flat file for address resolution. 
 
• LAs will be asked to verify these addresses and to feed back results of their address-
checking exercise to ONS, to allow their centralised maintained address list in development for 
the 2011 Census to be updated with relevant information. 
 

9



 4

• ONS will undertake its own address-checking exercise running parallel to that of the 
individual LAs and request representative support from the LA, along with representation from 
Ordnance Survey, Royal Mail and Intelligent Addressing. 
 
Address categorisation 
 

11 ONS needs to be able to associate addresses with use. At the highest level, residential and 
non-residential addresses will need to be distinguished, and it is also essential that private 
addresses are distinguished from communal addresses. The note at Annex B details the types 
of establishment that ONS will want to identify in advance of the enumeration. 
 
 
Action Plan 
 
12 LAs are asked to supply any data that would allow prior identification of establishments 
and indicate the means of transferring such data to ONS. 

 
13 LAs will be asked to provide information to ONS concerning processes they currently use 
to create, maintain and update their respective LLPGs, and any changes to these processes 
planned in the future. 
 
Address maintenance 
 

14 Throughout the Census operation, new address intelligence will be gathered which may 
lead to the Census address register changing. LAs can play a key role in helping ONS to 
maintain the address register by providing regularly up-dated information on both completed 
new, and demolished builds as well as change of use (e.g. non-residential to residential). 
 
 
Action Plan  
 
15 Those LAs who agreed to participate and assist ONS with their address checking exercises 
will provide regularly updated information on completed new buildings.  
 
Enumeration intelligence 
 
Differential delivery 
 
16 One of the key objectives of the Census is to reduce differential under coverage: 
adjustments for under-coverage are made with greater certainty if under-coverage is uniform. 
In order to reduce differential under coverage, more resources will be provided to enumerate 
areas where response rates are likely to be low. Enumeration Intelligence aims to identify 
which areas are likely to be hardest to enumerate through estimating response rates for all 
areas. Initial workload planning will be based on these response rate estimates and will ensure 
that a larger field force is in place in those areas where response is expected to be low. As there 
will be some areas where response is lower than anticipated, the field force is being designed 
to be flexible enough to adjust to meet this extra demand. In addition, extra measures will be 
used to target enumerators to those areas expected to be particularly difficult to enumerate 

10



 5

 
17 There will be two delivery methods for Census questionnaires in 2011, one being post out, 
and the other, hand delivery through a traditional field force.  Hand delivery will be at a lower 
volume  
(5 per cent) targeted at particular areas where the address register is considered inadequate 
and/or where the demographics of the population mean that response is likely to be lower and 
will be potentially positively impacted by personal contact at the point of delivery.   

 
18 ONS is therefore particularly keen to work with LAs in identifying and developing ways in 
which relevant information held by LAs could be shared with ONS to assist determining the 
delivery method. 
 
19 In particular, ONS would like to provide 2009 Rehearsal and 2011 Census field staff with 
information about the characteristics of their enumeration areas, drawing from Neighbourhood 
Statistics and other statistical sources.  Enhancement of this information with local knowledge 
from LAs would be invaluable, identifying, for example: 
• areas of high population or residential property change; 
• areas of high proportions of non-English speakers; and 
• practical, health and safety issues, for example areas which may be dangerous to 
enumerate. 
• Likely response rates from different areas. 
  
Targeting follow-up 
 

20 As a further means of addressing differential undercount ONS is proposing to focus 
follow-up staff resources in accordance with an assessment of likely response rates so that the 
ratio of field staff to households will be higher in hard-to-count areas than in those areas that 
are easier to enumerate.  During the follow-up the strategy will be to move staff between areas 
(firstly at a local level within a Census Manager’s area, but potentially between Local 
Authority areas) in reaction to patterns of response between areas.   
 
21 In order to tackle differential under coverage ONS is also considering:  
 
• deploying teams of peripatetic staff to assist in areas where response is especially slow; and 
• commencing follow-up activity earlier in certain areas (for example, student areas) before 
there is direct evidence from the field about response levels but where we might anticipate 
difficulties in getting responses. 
 
22 On all of these issues ONS is seeking to work with LAs in identifying the format and 
timeliness of relevant information and the best methods of sharing it with Census Field 
Managers, and in assessing areas prior to the enumeration.  

 
 

Action Plan 
 

23 ONS will identify location of hard-to-count populations that may require a specific 
enumeration approach and/or where there is a high expectation of poor response. In doing so 

11



 6

ONS will distinguish the requirements for information at the address level and those at the 
local area level to supplement information already available from the 2001 Census or via Ness.  
 
24 In particular, ONS would seek information from LAs on: 

 
(a) at address level  

 
• Location and type of communal establishments (where quantities of Individual forms will 
be required); 
• Gated communities (where there may be particular access difficulties); 
• Large households (where Continuation forms will be required); 
• Multi-occupied households (where more than one Household form will be required); 
• Vacant or otherwise unoccupied accommodation (where we would not attempt to follow-
up). 
• LA's will provide info on areas where there maybe 'Persons Sleeping Rough' 
• Addresses at which there is no initial response to Electoral Registration or the Place Survey 
(where non-response follow-up will be likely, Or marked areas where initial response to 
registration is low); 

 
(b) at the local area level  
 

• Ethnic communities, through, for example, take-up of language service provision 
(requiring interpreting facilities and/or particular enumeration approaches); 
• Area with high proportion of single person households (where doorstep contact may be 
difficult to establish); 
• Areas subject to significant structural change (resulting in new and deleted addresses which 
may not be included in the address register); and 
• Areas with particular health and safety concerns, such as high crime levels (which may not 
be suitable for enumerator delivery); 
• Areas where LAs have difficulty in take-up of initiatives and engaging with residents 
(where follow-up resources may need to be focused); 
• Areas with high level of take-up of housing benefits (where levels of non-response may 
also be high); 
• Areas with significant proportions of second residences and/or holiday accommodation 
(where we might anticipate higher levels of non-response but where we would not attempt to 
follow-up); 
• Sites associated with mobile accommodation (where special enumeration procedures 
would be adopted); 
• Areas of student accommodation (where special enumeration and follow-up procedures 
might be necessary). 
 
25 LAs are asked to identify locally held available data sources, such as Council Tax data, 
which can assist in this process distinguishing (a) and (b) sources, and advise ONS on the 
frequency that such sources are updated, the level of geography at which data is 
discriminating, and what geographic mapping is available and to start providing this data by. 
 

12



 7

26 Both ONS and LAs will aim, through discussion, to ensure statistical comparability 
between Census and LA data sources, covering issues such as what defines a household, a 
household space and multi-occupation. There may, for example, be an issue in determining a 
consistent approach to the identification of single or multiple households in dwellings 
comprising bed-sits. Different departments within a single LA may even adopt different 
definitions of multi-occupancy. ONS will provide the definition of multi-occupied households 
that will be used in the Census.  
 
27 ONS will create Area Profiles from a standard template to be compiled from core data 
from ONS (relating to variables such as tenure, ethnicity, unemployment, educational 
qualifications, etc) and supplemented with additional data from LA sources. A draft template is 
shown as Annex C.  
There will be contact with Local Field Managers at a later stage to identify specific LA 
requirements. These requirements include allocating the correct staff to areas, discussing 
health and safety issues, and making appropriate arrangements for enumerating groups such as 
gypsies and travellers. 
This work will be done well in advance of field staff working in the area, as the profile will be 
used by the field staff themselves to help them conduct the enumeration. To work alongside 
the Data Unit Wales, Statistical Directorate, Welsh Assembly Government and WLGA to 
better understand census specific needs in Wales and to use appropriate data more effectively 
 
Mode of transfer of information 
 
28 For the 2009 Rehearsal, ONS is open to various methods of transfer of LA-held data. 
These will include ONS staff meeting with relevant contacts within the LA to extract the 
information directly, or it could include LAs transmitting the information electronically in a 
series of reports (either ad-hoc or pre-agreed), most likely in Excel format. 
 
 
Action Plan 
29 LAs are asked to establish the means for providing ONS with consistent and comparable 
data and for transmitting it in a compatible format - data to be supplied GSI Email address 
format, and to indicate to ONS the source department or section within the LA.  
 
30 ONS will discuss with LAs their preferred method of transfer and will establish what 
common data sources are available across the 2009 Rehearsal LAs would look to evaluate this 
after the Rehearsal with a view to having a practical transfer method for all LAs in 2011. 
 
Data Quality Assurance 
 
31  During the Census live operations and in the months that follow, ONS will quality assure 
Census data to ensure that they are fit for purpose and meet user expectations.  Part of this 
work involves identifying comparator datasets to generate 'expected values' against which 
Census data and estimates can be compared.  In addition, local information could be used to 
provide qualitative and quantitative evidence on the completeness and quality of the 
enumeration. 
 

13



 8

32  Information that ONS has requested from LAs to inform address coverage and 
maintenance and enumeration intelligence for the Rehearsal will also be useful for data Quality 
Assurance (QA). QA processes may require alternative data or data views from LAs or seek 
methodological advice from LAs on use of comparator data sets.  In addition, the Census 
Quality Team would like to use the Rehearsal as an opportunity to test and refine their Census 
User Communications Strategy. 
 
 
Action Plan 
 
33 ONS will monitor and review data made available for address coverage and maintenance 
and enumeration intelligence to assess their utility for QA purposes.   
 
34 ONS will discuss with LAs alternative sources and the recommended methods for analysing 
and using comparator data sets. 
 
Community Liaison 
 
35 Concurrent with the LA liaison programme, ONS is meeting with key organisations 
representing specific population groups such as the elderly, the disabled, ethnic minority and 
faith groups, to develop a strategy for community liaison.  Currently these discussions is 
mainly with national organisations, but then increasingly, liaison will be with local 
organisations and networks as plans for the 2009 Rehearsal develop. 
 
36 Clearly there is also a role for LAs in working on community liaison as they have extensive 
local contacts which could be shared with Census Field Managers.  Additionally, LAs could 
themselves engage directly with community groups.   ONS is keen to develop its 
understanding of how contact information could best be gathered from LAs and what role LAs 
could themselves play in community liaison. 
 
 
Action Plan 
 
37 ONS will contact those key national organisations which are likely to be the most valuable 
in developing the Community Liaison Programme.  

 
38 These have been identified on the basis of such factors as: 
 
• how big/representative the organisation is; 
• how large a proportion of the national population the organisation represents;  
• how much influence the organisation exerts;  
• what local networks exist; and  
• the experience of working with them during the 2001 Census. 

 
39 LAs are asked to prepare a list of local contacts for the key organisation identified by ONS 
and to add others that they think would be helpful. ONS may be able to provide an initial list 
sourced from national organisations for LAs to QA and expand as necessary.  

 

14



 9

40 ONS will establish contacts with local community groups and drop-in centres for particular 
community groups and Citizens Advice Bureaux. 

 
41 LAs will identify existing forums such as Local Strategic Partnerships (Lisps) in England 
and Community First Partnerships (Caps) in Wales, for developing community networks. 
 
42 As part of its Language Strategy, ONS will undertake further research into the range of 
languages for which it may be necessary to have translations of Census documentation. LAs 
are to identify a maximum of 30 languages used in their areas, with an indicator of extent of 
use, and if possible inform ONS of any cluster of areas where these languages are spoken.   
 
43 LA staff will be contacted by Coordinators to establish best approach for local rough 
sleepers, gypsies and travellers and identify any circuses and travelling shows in the area at 
Census time. 
 
Recruitment and logistics 

 
44 In 2001 Census, several local authorities (in particular Greater London Boroughs) were 
flexible in providing time off for staff to act as Census field staff (as enumerators or at higher 
levels), recognising the value of having field staff with experience and local knowledge. 

  
45 Recruitment for the 2007 Test was outsourced, and LA staff were required to apply for 
field staff posts through the appointed agency channels.  For the Rehearsal, the recruitment is 
also being outsourced and it is expected that the contract will be awarded in March 2009.  The 
Statement of Requirements for the contract to be let states 'The Authority will be further strengthening 
links with Local Authorities (LAs) nationally and will involve them in many aspects of Census work.  LAs 
will be asked to identify potential suitable and capable candidates (current employees or retired, 
including staff used for electoral registration) who may be able to carry out Census work.  However, 
candidates will be expected to apply through the normal recruitment channels. This should prove a 
useful source of applicants for the Service Provider.'   
 
46 LAs may, in many cases, be able to provide either office accommodation from which local 
managers can train field staff and direct operations, and/or storage space for local supplies of 
materials and equipment.  Though the requirements for such accommodation in the Rehearsal 
may be minimal, ONS wish to explore fully the potential for this and other areas of logistical 
support such as the provision of car parking facilities and car park passes. LAs may be able to 
offer advice on particular diversity/community mixes in their area, or advise on potential 
'difficult areas' where it maybe advised for enumerators to work in pairs. 
 
47 Census Coverage Survey (CCS) 
To make sure the published Census results are an accurate picture of the population, an 
independent survey - the CCS is conducted after the Census. The households and people 
identified in the CCS are matched with those recorded in the Census to allow ONS to estimate 
the number and characteristics of people not included on a Census form. The CCS is a short 
door step interview using a subset of Census questions which is conducted six weeks after 
Census day. LAs may be able to provide the same support for recruitment and logistics for the 
CCS as for the Census. 
 
 

15



 10 

Action Plan 
 
48 Recruitment for Field Staff posts is to be outsourced. LAs to promote job opportunities and 
encourage potential applicants to apply through normal channels. ONS to provide recruitment 
dates. (see Annex A). 
 
49 LAs to investigate the possibility of offering office/training accommodation and/or storage 
space for local supplies of materials and equipment. 
 
50 LAs may be able to offer advice on particular diversity/community mixes in their area, or 
advise on potential 'difficult areas' . 
 
Communications and Publicity 
 
51 Providing the right level and type of publicity material is essential to maximise response in 
the Census.  National publicity planning for 2011 is already underway but, additionally, LAs 
will have established local communications into which ONS may be able to tap.  ONS 
welcome the opportunity of benefiting from the sorts of local communication channels 
available to LAs. 

 
52 In the 2001 Census LAs answered a number of telephone queries from the public 
themselves. If the same procedure was used for the 2011 Census we would encounter the 
similar problems of  
1) having no guarantee the callers were receiving up to date information and 2) we would not 
have an accurate record of the number of calls being dealt with. 
 
53 The Web Self Help (WSH) is a public website which the LAs will have access to in the 
same way as anyone else. This will enable them (should they chose to do so) to look up 
responses to queries from the public and give the correct response. However, it needs to be 
impressed on the LAs that they always access the WSH and not assume that they know the 
answer (even if they looked up the same query the day before).  
The reasons for this are that a) the Census Help content will be regularly updated and 
responses might be changed and b) accessing the WSH will ensure that we get MI data on 
usage. 
 
54 The WSH also provides the public with the means to request questionnaires and other 
supporting materials. There is no technical reason that LAs can't carry this out on behalf of the 
caller, providing all the required information is provided, however the issue may be more to do 
with whether they want to take on this role. 
 
 
Action Plan 
 
55  LAs are asked to identify potential local media outlets to provide to Area Manager(s) such 
as: 
Local press and radio; LA newsletters; Community newsletters; Other media. In particular, 
LAs are asked to reserve space in any LA newsletters. 
 

16



 11 

56 LAs are asked to inform ONS of any current local issues that may pose risks to the 
enumeration.  

 
Evaluation 
 
57 An evaluation of the liaison process with LAs will be carried out. It will include assessment 
of the collection of data to support enumeration intelligence, the address register; and, the 
process of supporting the field in address checking and enumeration, and the liaison with 
communications and publicity teams. 
Separate evaluations as to the usefulness and effectiveness of the data will be done by 
individual areas, such as the address register or enumeration intelligence. 
 
58 Following the evaluation process, rehearsal LAs will be asked to support ONS in promoting 
the lessons learned from the 2009 rehearsal to other LAs.  

      
Higher level stakeholder engagement 
 
59 Regional Champions will use their best endeavours to encourage LAs and related strategic 
partners to work with ONS to deliver a successful 2009 rehearsal and 2011 Census and have 
increased confidence in the results, through following activities such as: 
 

• Advocating the benefits of a good quality address register so that LAs maintain the 
quality of their Land and Property Gazetteer. 

• Increasing awareness and understanding of Census operations and areas for the 
partnership working among LAs. 

• Assist the ONS to tailor the approach to enumeration in hard-to-enumerate areas. 
• Involvement in the strategic approach to partnership working with LAs. 
• Raising local awareness of the Census to encourage completion and return of forms. 
    

      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17



 12 

ANNEX A TIMETABLE FOR ACTION AND EVENTS 
_________________________________________________________________ 
When   What      Who 
______________ __________________________________ ______________ 
 
2008 
March  Letter sent to Rehearsal LA Chief Executives from  ONS 

the Census Director. 
May  Rehearsal LAs appoint CLMs and ACLMs.  LAs 
   Start LA Liaison - contact CLM/ACLMs. On-going ONS 
   contact to be channelled through LA Liaison. 
   Two way information transfers begin .  ONS/LAs 

         Contact details shared including LLPG custodians ONS 
August  Begin improvements to the LLPG.   LAs 
   ONS will undertake further research into the  ONS/LAs  

range of languages for which it may be necessary to  
have translations of Census documentation. 

September  LA Address Register workshops held  ONS 
   Resolution of address list anomalies.    ONS/LAs 
   LAs start to return verified addresses to ONS ONS . 

ONS to identify location of hard-to-count  ONS/LAs    
populations.          

October  ONS will create Area Profiles from a standard  ONS 
                              template to be compiled from core data. 
   ONS to discuss with LAs provision of data.   ONS/LAs 
                     ONS will establish contacts with local community  ONS/LAs 
                              groups and drop-in centres. 
   LA staff will be contacted  to establish best   ONS 

approach for local Rough Sleepers. 
   Prior to Address Check (AC) recruitment period, LAs  

LAs publicise posts and encourage their staff to apply.    
   November LA workshop.      ONS/LAs 
   Start of recruitment of AC managers in   LAs 

rehearsal areas.  
   LAs to prepare a list of local contacts for the key  ONS/LAs 

organisation identified by ONS. 
   Census Directors meet with CEs.   ONS 
   Technical leads and other Census Managers go  ONS 
   direct to ACLMs for information and help,  
   copying results to LA Liaison. 

 December LAs asked to identify potential local media outlets. LAs 
   LAs to inform ONS of any current local issues that  LAs 

may pose risks to enumeration.     
   Recruitment period AC Coordinators.  Rec Agency 
   Recruitment period ACs.                          Rec Agency 
 
 

18



 13 

2009 
 
January  Contact Centre prepared for queries.   ONS 
   AC Coordinators start.                     Rec Agency 
February  Potential Area Manager candidates identified. LAs 
   LAs provide publicity for AC awareness.  LAs 
   Address Checkers start.      Rec Agency 
16 Feb / 24 April Address Check begins.     ONS 
March  LAs asked to complete area profile data  ONS/LAs 
   LAs to provide lists of suitable candidates  LAs 

to the service provider. 
May  Recruitment Period for Census Distributors   Rec Agency 
   / Collectors.  
May-June  Recruitment Period for Area Managers.   Rec Agency 
May-July  Recruitment Period for Census Coordinators. Rec Agency 
June  Area Managers start.     Rec Agency 
June-July  Evaluation of LA Liaison AC.       ONS/CLMs 
June-August Recruitment Period for Census Distributors.  Rec Agency 
June-August Recruitment Period for Special Enumerators. Rec Agency 
June-Dec  Evaluation of LA Liaison.     ONS 
July  Contact Centres ready.    LAs 
   Census Coordinators start.    Rec Agency 
July-September  Recruitment Period for Census Collectors.  Rec Agency 
August  Recruitment period for Census Coverage (CCS).  ONS 
   Field Managers.  
   Accommodation provided for Field Staff.  LAs 
September  Census Distributors start.    Rec Agency 
   Special Enumerators start.    Rec Agency 
Sept-October Recruitment Period for CCS Team Managers.*   Rec Agency 
Sept-November     Recruitment Period for CCS Interviewers.  Rec Agency 
October  Contact Centre live.     LA’s 
   Census Collectors start.    Rec Agency 
11 October  CENSUS REHEARSAL DAY. 
November  Revision of strategy.      ONS/LAs 
   CCS Team Managers* start.    Rec Agency 
   CCS Interviewers start.    Rec Agency 
* Expected to be Census Coordinators carrying on into the role. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19



 14 

ANNEX B Communal establishment categorisation 
 
The table below details the type of establishment that ONS will want to identify in advance of 
the enumeration. LAs are asked to consider whether they hold any data that would allow prior 
identification of establishments. 
 

Hospitals 
 General Hospital  
 Psychiatric Hospital i.e. the 3 Special Hospitals (Broadmoor, Rampton, Ashworth)  
 Hospital for mentally ill  
 Hospital for people with learning disabilities  
 Other Hospital - children's (acute), maternity, eye, tuberculosis etc 
Nursing home 
 Nursing Home - main client’s older people.  
 Nursing Home - main clients physically disabled. 
 Nursing Home - main client’s children 
 Nursing Home - main client’s learning disability 
 Nursing Home - main clients mentally ill  
 Home for Terminally Ill 
 Convalescent Home 
Residential and sheltered accommodation 
 Residential Home - older people 
 Sheltered Accommodation for older people 
 Residential Home - physically disabled 
 Residential Home - learning disability including children 
 Residential Home - mentally ill 
 Children's Home 
 Probation Home 
 Maternity Home 
 Home for ex-offenders 
 Home for ex-drug users 
 Home for ex-alcoholics 
 Mental after care unit: high-support residential 
 Mental after care unit: supported housing 
 Rehabilitation centre for drug addicts 
 Nurses' Home/ Nurses' Hostel  
Secure accommodation 
 Prison 
 Remand Centre 
 Detention Centre 
 Immigration Detention Centre / Asylum Centre 
 Probation / Bail Hostel 
 Youth Treatment Centre 
 Young Offender Institution 
 Secure Training Unit 
 Local Authority Secure Accommodation 
 Police Station with lock-up cell (where people can be detained overnight) 
 

20



 15 

Defence Establishments 
 Army Camp or Establishment 
 Air Force Camp or Establishment   
 Naval Shore Station or Establishment 
 Naval Vessel 
 Service Hospital 
 Hostel for NAAFI personnel  
Educational Establishments 
 Boarding School 
 Residential School / Home for Disabled Children 
 Theological College 
 Training College 
 Religious Institution which is boarding school or day school with accommodation for 
 children 
 University Hall of Residence 
 Student Hostel administered by School, College or University 
Boarding and holiday 
 Hotel  
 Boarding house 
 Guest House  
 Inn / Public House with sleeping accommodation 
 Apartment House 
 Residential Club 
 Health Farm 
 Holiday Camp 
 Youth Hostel 
 Caravan Camps 
 Camp Sites 
Hostels 
 Occupational Hostel attached to Racing Stable 
 Other Occupational Hostel (i.e. linked to specific employment)  
 Contractors' Camp 
 Hostel attached to vocational training establishment  
 School for single employer, government department etc 
 Hostel for Homeless - families 
 Hostel for Homeless - single 
 Common lodging house 
 Mission 
 Night Shelter 
 Shelter for Women 
 B & B Accommodation for Homeless 
 Alcoholics' Hostel 
Religious Institution 
 Convent 
 Monastery 
 Seminary (not linked to school) 
Royal Residence 

     Stately home 

21



 16 

Annex C Proposed Draft template for Area Profile information 
 

ONS aim to create Area Profiles from a standard template to be compiled from core data from 
ONS (relating to variables such as tenure, ethnicity, unemployment, educational qualifications, 
etc) and supplemented with additional data from LA sources. A draft form of such a template 
appears below, but ONS welcomes discussion on this at the Workshop so that a final format 
can be agreed. 

 
Data item Source     Requirement Updated Geography 

Areas within an 
LA where 
enumerator 

safety may need 
to be enhanced 
possibly by 

working in pairs 

LAs Indication of safety 
issues where 

enumerator safety 
may be at risk 

TBC OA/SOA 

Ethnicity by LA 
(so we can set 
ethnicity targets 
for recruitment in 
some areas) 

LAs To ensure the 
approach to 
enumeration is 
appropriate 

TBC OA/SOA 

Proportion of 
Welsh speakers 
by LA and any 
lower Geography 

if possible  

Welsh LAs Indication of areas 
with high levels of 
Welsh speakers 

TBC OA/SOA/postcode 

Per cent of non-
white ethnic 
group 

Census Indication of 
translation/interpreter 

facilities 

2001 OA/SOA/postcode 

Per cent of 
population in LAs 
particular ethnic 

groups 

Census/ To ensure the 
approach to 
enumeration is 
appropriate 

2001 OA/SOA 

Per cent of 
private renting / 

bed-sits 

Census Indication of multi-
occupied 

accommodation 

2001 OA/postcode 

Per cent of large 
(6+) households 

Census/Electoral Indication of level of 
requirement for 
continuation forms 

2001/2006 OA/postcode 

Per cent 
electoral 

Registration non-
response 

Electoral 
Registration 

Indication of 
potential level of 
Census-non  
response 

2006 Ward/postcode 

Area of high take 
up of housing 
benefit 

LAs To explore if this 
would provide proxy 
for low-response 

TBC             
OA/SOA/postcode 

Areas of low 
take-up of 

initiatives and 
engagement with 

residents 

TBC Indication of 
potential low 
response 

TBC OA/SOA/postcode 

Per cent of 
second homes 

Council tax Enumeration 
intelligence 

2006 Ward/SOA/postcode 

Per cent of 
vacant properties 

Council Tax Indication of no 
response 

2006 Ward/SOA/postcode 

22



 17 

Rate of notifiable 
offences 

NeSS Indication of safety 
issues where hand 
delivery may be 

difficult 

TBC Ward/postcode 

Location of gated 
communities 

LAs Indication of areas of 
difficult access 

TBC OA/postcode 

Areas of high 
build or property 

change  

LAs Indication of where 
address register may 

be deficient 

TBC Ward/SOA/postcode 

Location of sites 
of 

mobile/temporary 
accommodation 

TBC Enumeration 
intelligence    

TBC Ward/SOA/postcode 

Areas of student 
accommodation 

Census/LAs Indication of where 
follow-up may need 

to start early 

2001 OA 

Area where LA 
feel the address 
list may be poor 

LAs Areas where address 
register is deficient 

TBC Ward/SOA 

Location sites 
accommodating 
asylum seekers 

LA / Home 
Office 

Enumeration 
Intelligence 

TBC OA/Postcode 

Location of 
hotels and B*Bs 

LAs Indication of areas 
with high levels of 

visitors 

TBC OA/Postcode 

Location of 
military camps 

LAs/MOD Location of Armed 
Force 

TBC OA/SOA/postcode 

LAs to advise of 
areas where they 

feel the 
population may 
be particularly 
hard to count, 
and why. 

LAs Enumeration 
intelligence 

TBC OA/SOA 

Information 
about whether 
the LA feels that 
2001 Census 
data is 

particularly out of 
date, and where 
they have 
alternative 

sources of data    

TBC Enumeration 
intelligence 

TBC OA/SOA 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23



 18 

 
Annex D List of national organisations being considered for 

bilateral discussions 
 
The organisations and bodies that ONS have initially identified as being potential partners 
in working on the Community Liaison Programme include: 

• Shelter/Shelter Cymru 
• Big Issue 
• Age Concern 
• Help the Aged/ Help the Aged Wales 
• National Association of Councils of Voluntary Organisations 
• National Centre for Languages 
• National Literacy Trust 
• Mind/Mind Cymru 
• SCOPE 
• RNIB 
• National Federation of the Blind 
• Henshaws Society for Blind People 
• NHS Direct 
• RNID 
• Disability Rights Commission 
• Carers UK 
• Lord Lieutenants Association 
• Commission for Racial Equality 
• Muslim Council of Britain 
• British Sikh Federations 
• British Ravidassia Society 
• The Ligali Organisation 
• Gypsy Council for Education 
• Interfaith Network for the UK 
• Federation of Irish Societies 
• Federation of Poles in Great Britain 
• Action for Irish Youth 
• Board of Deputies of British Jews 
• National Association of British Arabs 
• Hindu Forum for Britain 
• Welsh Language Board 
• Communities First (Wales) 
• Stonewall 
• Refugee Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 

24



 19 

Annex E   Selection Criteria  
 
Anglesey 
• Rural and coastal area and unitary LA 
• LA in Wales with significant number of Welsh speakers (60%) 
• Considerable distance from ONS Titchfield 
• MoD base  
• B&Bs and Caravan parks. 
 
Lancaster 
• Town area and two-tier LA 
• Considerable distance from ONS Titchfield 
• Prison,  MoD base, hospital and halls of residence 
• B&Bs and Caravan parks. 
 
Newham 
• City area in London and single-tier LA 
• Area of upcoming residential development (Olympic games) 
• Large number of multi-occ households Most ethnically diverse LA in UK 
• Large influx from E. Europe. 
• Large number of multi-occ households 
• Hospitals and halls of residence 
 

25



Population mobility
and service provision

A report for London Councils

26



27



Population Mobility and Service Provision 

A report for London Councils 

Tony Travers, Rebecca Tunstall
and Christine Whitehead 

with Segolene Pruvot 

LSE London

LSE London 
February 2007 

28



2

29



Contents

Executive Summary 

1. Introduction: migration and mobility in London 

2. The Framework of Analysis 

3. Research Findings 

4. Implications for Public Services 

5. Social Cohesion 

6. Implications for Resource Allocation 

7. Conclusions 

Bibliography

Appendices

A. Selective Literature Review 
B. List of interviewees 
C. Questionnaire

3

30



Executive summary 

This project has examined, and sought to measure, a number of the impacts of 
population mobility and transience on London boroughs.  It has done this by 
examining (i) the scale of recent migration and other mobility affecting the capital; 
(ii) existing sources of research into the costs and consequences of population 
mobility; (iii) boroughs’ own experiences of mobility and the impacts this generates; 
(iv) estimates of some of the costs of mobility for boroughs; (v) a description of some 
of the service consequences of population movement, eg, for housing; (vi) the 
implications of mobility for local government finance and (vii) evidence about the 
relationship between transience and social cohesion. 

The key findings of the project are as follows: 

Extent of mobility 

There has been a substantial increase in international migration to 
London within the past decade.  There is now a net increase in the 
overseas-born population of about 100,000 per year.  However, the 
turnover of people moving in and out of the city (excluding within-
London moves) is – officially – approaching 250,000 per annum.  
Unofficial (and uncounted) mobility will almost certainly add to this 
number. 

London has higher levels of inter-regional mobility than most other 
regions.  This has long been true, though there has been some 
increase in outward  mobility to surrounding regions in recent years. 

London has some boroughs where population mobility is greater than 
35% per annum, and where the private rented sector is the largest 
tenure.  This has also been true for many years.  What has changed is 
the nature of the population that is moving, In particular, many arrive 
in the capital with significant needs for public service support.  There 
is powerful evidence that a number of boroughs act as an ‘escalator’ 
for people, investing heavily in them when they first arrive (for 
example with language skills and housing) before those individuals 
move on and are then replaced by new ones who require councils to 
start afresh in building them into the city’s economic and social life. 

The costs to services 

Apart from the European Commission-funded URBACT study, and 
work undertaken for the Association of London Government on 
schools, there is little London-specific (or indeed other) quantitative 
research about the impact of population mobility on services.  Indeed, 
there is surprisingly little official interest in the subject despite the 
rapid increase in immigration in recent years, and the stated need for 
initiatives to enhance social cohesion among new groups within the 
population.

4

31



Even though there is a commonsense understanding of the costs and 
consequences deriving from high levels of mobility in a city such as 
London, it is not always easy to measure whether mobility ‘above 
trend’ means that costs become disproportionate to that level of 
mobility, or to separate out mobility impacts from other cost-drivers 
within the complex services provided in the capital.  But this 
difficulty does not mean such costs do not exist. 

In particular, it is not clear whether it is the fact that mobility occurs, 
the nature of the population moving, the extent of churn both within 
the area and for individuals, or all three - that impacts on costs and 
social cohesion.

A number of boroughs have commissioned research about migration 
and minority ethnic residents, though few have looked specifically at 
mobility impacts and costs. 

Borough officers can, in some cases, give examples of additional 
costs arising from high levels of mobility.  Such costs include: 

Translation and other costs associated with integration 

A rapid turnover of new migrants to a borough, many 
of whom then move on to other areas, creates a 
demand for language training and translation services.  
The number of ‘origin’ countries has grown 
significantly within the last decade, adding 
significantly to many boroughs’ costs.  Eastern 
European languages; Turkish; Spanish; and a number 
of African languages have become more prevalent.  
Compared with earlier waves of migration to the UK, 
which were predominantly from English-speaking 
countries, new migrants are more likely to arrive from 
non-English nations. 

Housing administration and maintenance costs 

New migration has increased the demand for social 
housing, particularly in boroughs where larger families 
have arrived.  Temporarily-housed households will 
often move on and thus generate higher administrative 
costs.  Families will, on occasions, have members with 
special needs that will mean the need for adaptation of 
homes – possibly temporarily.  Homes that are vacated 
often need to be refurbished.  Mobility above previous 
trends thus generates higher housing costs. 
Equally, increased demand for housing, especially 
from transient and lower income households, increases 
the demand for Houses in Multiple Occupation and 

5

32



increases associated regulatory and social service 
costs.

Electoral registration turnover costs 

The research suggested measurable additional costs as 
people move into, out of, and within boroughs.  Senior 
officers are unanimous that (a) population is often 
under-recorded and (b) there are a number of growing 
pressures on electoral registration of which mobility is 
significant.  Boroughs have in some cases have had (or 
are about) to take on between 1 and 5 additional staff 
each to cope. 

Council tax registration costs 

In common with electoral registration, council tax 
registration has increased as more people move in and 
out of boroughs.  Many buildings are now multiply-
occupied in complex ways.  It is not always clear to 
people what constitutes a ‘household’ or property.  
New migrants may have no experience of this kind of 
local taxation and will need to have the rules explained 
to them. More staff have had to be taken on. 

Costs of planning law contraventions 

Pressure on properties as a result of mobility and rising 
occupation levels has, in some boroughs, led to 
contraventions of building requirements which the 
authority must then address.  This may take planning 
officers time in terms of inspection, serving papers and 
then checking changes have been made. There needs 
to be sensitivity in dealing with such issues where 
people simply do not understand local planning rules.   

Public assistance costs of migrants with no other 
means of support 

Local authorities are required, by law, to provide 
resources to residents who have no other means of 
support. Many such individuals and families are 
transient.  London boroughs are, in some cases, 
spending over £1.2 million a year on this kind of 
provision.

Homelessness provision and administration 

Some 65,000 households in London are officially 
categorised as homeless.  Mobility has increased the 

6

33



number of homeless households within many 
boroughs, because of the scale of migration and the 
changing nature of the population.  This increase also 
puts pressure on the administration of the service.

Social services 

There are disproportionately high numbers of children 
in need, and looked after children, in and around 
London.  The high level of movement in London, 
within and between boroughs, for schooling and other 
statutory and non-statutory services produces costs. A 
recent study for DfES and the Government Office for 
London has accepted this as an issue. 

Impact on social cohesion 

There is general recognition that mobility and diversity can test the social cohesion of 
neighbourhoods. However there is also recognition that incomers may help to 
improve services and bring increased opportunities to the area.  A number of 
boroughs noted in particular that the increasingly diverse nature of in-migrants across 
London helped to reduce tensions as compared to some areas with concentrations of 
particular migrant groups. 

Concerns about cohesion can often be directly related back to issues about access to 
services and the priority sometimes given to new migrants. In this context, rapid 
turnover of new migrants can lead to a need for political management of public 
expectations and opinion. Of broader concern is the possibility that rapid turnover of 
residents, and indeed employees such as teachers, in some parts of London 
undermines the social capital and liveability of places.   

Some boroughs believe that a particular issue generating higher mobility and lower 
social cohesion is the increasing importance of ‘buy to let’ housing.  In part this is 
because some of this housing is used to house homeless households; in part because 
new types of housing bring in new types of more transient households.   

Funding issues 

The Revenue Support Grant (RSG) needs-equalisation formula attempts to measure 
such factors as the costs of ‘sparsity’ despite the lack of any significant research base 
to measure the costs of servicing sparsely-populated areas. There is no equivalent 
measure in the formula for population mobility or transience.  Indeed, there appears to 
be a perception within government that mobility is too difficult to measure and thus 
cannot be fed into formula grant calculations – implicitly giving these costs a zero 
weighting.

The RSG has in recent years become less flexible and less capable of reflecting new 
spending needs.  Indeed, the formula used to measure spending need is frozen and 
changes in grant from year to year are subjected to ‘floors’.  Education funding has 
recently used ‘last year plus a fixed percentage’ grant allocations. If Whitehall 

7

34



allocations of resources to councils are to reflect the costs of mobility, either the RSG 
formula will have to change and/or new specific grants will have to be paid to 
authorities experiencing high levels of population mobility. 

England’s local government funding system is so centralised that local authorities 
have little or no freedom to benefit from any growth in their tax base as a result of 
increased population or economic activity resulting from mobility and migration.  The 
most usual response to significant pressures – eg in terms of language teaching and 
A8 rooflessness - is for central government to provide highly targeted, and often short 
term,  grants which cannot  address structural issues effectively. 

In looking for a way forward, it should be recognised that many mobile and transient 
households impose few costs on their local area and make no negative impact on 
social cohesion.   On the other hand, there are a number of service areas identified in 
this report, where there are clearly disproportionate costs associated with mobility that 
should be taken into account.  Moreover, in education in particular, there are 
extremely good data about mobility in schools that would offer a basis for research 
about the costs associated with mobility.  Somewhat similar information is available 
with respect to housing, particularly with respect to homeless and roofless 
households.

Conclusions

The report’s authors conclude that the issues involved in mobility are not always 
about mobility as such – there are many situations where mobile populations impose 
little or no additional costs and are readily integrated into the locality.  Indeed many 
transient households use fewer local services and make few demands on the locality. 
Equally, there are many examples of mobility and migration benefiting services. 

There are, however, many types of mobility that do impose additional costs normally 
associated with the needs of particular households –  these vary from the need for 
translation services, to specialist support for the homeless.  

Measurement of, and resource funding for, population mobility will always present 
central and local government with challenges.  New spending needs and populations 
concentrated in a small number of areas are difficult for a centralised system of 
funding to respond to quickly. Moreover, there is considerable uncertainty about 
national and local population totals.

London boroughs are at the cutting edge in enabling Britain to manage international 
in-migration in a politically acceptable and orderly way. They are not alone in this – 
there are authorities both close to London, and in other cities, that face similar issues. 
Local authorities will only be able to continue to address these issues effectively if 
their quality of management, local services, and resources fully reflect the profound 
challenge presented by mobility and migration.  There is, at present, a risk that as 
migration and mobility continue at high levels year after year, London may find it 
increasingly difficult to cope with the costs and consequences of such impacts. 

8

35



1. Introduction: migration and mobility in London 

1.1     Mobility within the London population: an established phenomenon 

London is one of the world’s most cosmopolitan cities. Its history as an international 
trading centre has ensured that people from all over the world have moved through the 
ports, finance houses and trading enterprises that have flourished since the Romans 
settled Londinium.  As the capital grew, different kinds of mobility emerged.  There 
continued to be movement in and out from the rest of the world.  But, in addition, a 
pattern of within-UK mobility evolved: young people moved to London at the start of 
their working lives, while later in life a proportion of the population moved out to the 
suburbs and beyond.  There is also a substantial amount of mobility within the city, 
encouraged by London’s perennially active housing market, the large numbers of 
population with no settled homes, and the scale of the private rented sector. Thus, at 
least three kinds of mobility can be observed in London: to and from overseas; to and 
from the rest of the UK and within the capital itself.   

Table 1 below shows the trend in international in- and out-migration to the capital 
during the past decade or so.  There has been a sharp rise in the numbers of people 
moving from overseas countries to London, with an apparently settled pattern of 
around 200,000 people arriving from overseas each year and about 100,000 leaving to 
go abroad.  There is, thus, a net inflow of about 100,000 per year, albeit the ‘churn’ of 
international migrants is significantly bigger than this number suggests. 

Table 1:  Inflow and outflow of migrants from overseas, London, 1990 to 2004,  (thousands) 

                 Inflow               Outflow               Net change 
  1990   121.8  68.2    +53.6 
  1991   113.0  77.2    +35.8 
  1992     92.1  65.3    +28.8 
  1993     88.9  69.1    +19.8 
  1994   107.0  72.9    +34.1 
  1995   130.8  65.2    +65.6  
  1996   126.6  72.0    +54.6   
  1997   135.2  89.6    +45.6 
  1998   174.6  87.9    +86.7   
  1999   214.5  101.1                   +113.4 
  2000   222.9             102.5   +120.4 
  2001   199.2  94.8  +104.4  

2002 202.0  107.1    +94.9 
  2003   173.0  102.2    +70.8 

2004   217.7  92.3  +125.4 

(Sources: (i) International Migration Series MN No 26, Office for National Statistics, Table 2.8; (ii) 
International Migration Series MN No 31, Office for National Statistics, Table 2.8 

There is some evidence that the surveys that record international in-migration may 
under-record the scale of movement.  Some individuals may understate the length of 
their intended stay and thus not be recorded as in-migrants.  Many are not identified 
as leaving. The accuracy of the UK’s international migration data is currently the 
subject of an official inquiry. 

Not all migrants are the same of course, though most will be drawn to London for 
economic reasons.  Some are affluent individuals and families moving to work in 
financial and business services.  Others will be temporary workers, such as young 

9

36



people coming from countries such as Australia, New Zealand and South Africa, who 
will work in the capital for a year or two before moving on.  However, there is 
evidence that the largest proportion of the overall figure will be poorer economic 
migrants who, in most cases, will come to stay.  

Mobility within the United Kingdom is shown in Table 2.  This analysis, a standard 
feature in the Office for National Statistics’ Regional Trends publication, shows the 
numbers of people moving from each region of the UK to each other region within a 
year.  The table makes it clear there is a major movement, both in and out, of people 
within London each year, with 155,000 moving into the capital during 2004 and 
260,000 leaving. Only the South East has a similar level of inter-regional population 
movement, followed by the East and the South West.  Movement in and out of the 
northern regions is generally less pronounced, though the different total population of 
each region means the proportionate differences are rather smaller than the absolute 
ones.

Comparing 2004 with 1991 shows relatively few significant changes in the extent of 
inter-regional mobility within the UK, except that of out-migration from the capital to 
the rest of the country.  Some regions, notably the South East, the South West and the 
East, have seen a modest rise in in-migration as people have left London.  

Table 2:  Inter-regional mobility within the United Kingdom, 1991 and 2004 (thousands) 

                                                             Inflow                               Outflow 
              1991       2004                     1991     2004 

North East   40    41    41   39  
 North West  96 105  105          104 
 Yorkshire & the Humber 85   98    85 92 
 East Midlands  90 112    81 97 
 West Midlands  83   95    88           101 
 East                  122 146  113          128 
 London                  149 155  202          260 

South East                  198 223  185          208 
South West                 121 139    99          108 

England   96   97  112          122 
Wales   51   60    47 49 
Scotland   56   57    47 45 
Northern Ireland  12   12      9 10 

(Source: Office for National Statistics, Regional Trends 39, Table 3.12, London: TSO) 

Overall, 15 per cent of London’s households had been at their current address for less 
than a year, compared to a national average of only 11 per cent. The next highest 
region was the South, at 12 per cent according to the Survey of English Housing 
(2004/05 Table S223). This amounted to 474,000 moving households in London. 
They formed 21 per cent of England’s total movers. 

Two major reasons for this scale of movement are: the large proportion of Londoners 
living with family and friends, and the scale of the private rented sector where the 
majority of very mobile households are located.  London accounts for one third of all 
private rented dwellings – ie private renting is twice as usual in London than in the 
country as a whole.  On the other hand, mobility in the social sector and in owner-

10

37



occupation is lower in London than the rest of the country because of housing market 
pressures (Cho and Whitehead, 2005).  

London’s small geographical size means that the physical impacts of such mobility, 
coupled with the international movement suggested in Table 1, will be far more 
geographically concentrated than if they occurred in a sparsely-populated region.  
Moreover, the complex make-up of the international in-movers will mean that the 
‘churn’ in London’s population will be of a different kind to that in other regions. 

International in-migration to London has long been a feature of the city’s population.  
There have been immigrants in the city for two thousand years. However, successive 
waves of international in-migration since the late 1940s have brought about a radical 
transformation in the ethnic make-up of the population.   

In 1951, the UK’s ethnic minority population (which would not have been referred to 
in these terms) is estimated to have been less than 50,000 (London Research Centre, 
1997).  During the 1950s and 1960s, there was a significant growth in immigration 
from the New Commonwealth.  By 1961, the number of London residents born in the 
‘New Commonwealth’ was 242,000, providing a broad approximation of the overall 
level of the ‘ethnic minority’ population.  This number grew to 583,000 by 1971 and 
945,000 by 1981.  The ‘non-white’ population in 1991 was about 1.4 million, 
increasing to about 2 million in 2001.  

Particularly since 2004, there has been an additional surge of migration from new 
European Union accession countries such as Poland and the Baltic States.  The scale 
of long-term net migration to the UK as a result of this political decision cannot yet be 
fully understood.  But there is evidence that the overall level of migration to the UK 
as the result of the 2004 enlargement of the EU may have been as great as 600,000 – 
though a proportion of these migrants may already have returned home.  London, in 
common with the rest of the country, has experienced a significant increase in 
migrants from these new EU members. 

Many of the earlier migrants have assumed British nationality and their children have 
been born British citizens.  A number of minority ethnic populations are now an 
established part of London – with relatively low mobility.  The increase in 
immigration since the mid-1990s has brought another, new, group of overseas-born 
people to the capital.  While a proportion of this new migrant population are from the 
same New Commonwealth countries that provided most of the earlier immigrants, a 
larger share of the total now come from other countries, resulting in far more diverse 
communities.

1.2   Why recent changes to immigration occurred and likely consequences 

Little is known about the true scale and nature of international in-migration to London 
– or, indeed, to Britain more generally. Although, as the earlier paragraphs show, 
there have been earlier waves of migration to the UK, the net inflow of around 
100,000 per annum in each year since 1998-99 is unprecedented.  Moreover, new 
migrants are not evenly spread across either the country or within the capital.

11

38



The fact that London’s population has experienced (and continues to experience) 
rapid international in-migration has presented national politics with a problem.  On 
the one hand, the Home Office and Treasury have commissioned research that 
suggests migrants add to the country’s attractiveness and GDP (Treasury, 2006 para 
A34; Home Office, 2001).  But there are also complex political concerns about the 
level of migration and asylum seekers that have led national politicians of all parties 
to conduct a vigorous debate about the future of migration and a number of related 
issues.

The very immediacy of an unexpected surge in in-migration has led to additional 
problems.  In October 2006, the Governor of the Bank of England, Mervyn King, 
stated: “We just do not know how big the population of the UK is. Because the 
comparisons and the split between different groups of workers — young and old, 
migrant and ordinarily resident — has changed in recent years, the statistics may not 
be that accurate.” (King, 2006).  IIff the Bank has this kind of difficulty at the UK level, 
it is inevitable that individual councils’ data will, in a number of cases, be even worse.  
Evidence from interviewees certainly suggested this.  Yet – as will be discussed 
below – in a centrally-run system of public finance, the availability of accurate and 
up-to-date demographic statistics is a pre-requisite of good government.  London 
boroughs must currently operate in an environment where these data are of (at best) 
unknown accuracy and suggest a significant under recording particularly in areas with 
high minority ethnic populations.  

Because of the centralised nature of political decision-making and resource control in 
Britain, it is impossible for individual local authorities to tackle one-off or 
disproportionate public service issues and costs.  Virtually all tax and spending 
decisions are taken in Whitehall and based on long standing formulae which take 
account of particular attributes – but not mobility as such.  Central government will 
also inevitably be expected to address one-off surges in the demand for services.  This 
issue is considered in more detail below. 

In a wider sense, the surge of migration to London, and a number of other places 
within Britain, has produced a number of little-understood and under-researched 
consequences.  It will take a number of years for official statistics and the research 
community to catch up with the changes.  Thus, for example, we know a significant 
amount about the minority ethnic population in Britain – because it has been 
established for over 50 years.  But the consequences of a sudden increase in 
international migration are, as yet, little analysed. This report seeks to throw light on 
one aspect of this increase: the way mobility may affect public service costs. 

1.3 London within the national context 

This study has been commissioned by London Councils and has taken the London 
boroughs as its research base. Of course, the impacts of migration and mobility costs 
are not only to be found in the capital.  Indeed, the most recent wave of international 
in-migration has produced evidence of a number of migrants moving to cities and 
counties outside the South East of England, though the main pressure remains in and 
around the capital (House of Commons, 2007). Local authorities in regions 
experiencing low housing demand in the 1990s saw higher mobility within the social 
housing stock, with a minority of households moving very frequently which led to 

12

39



knock on costs to housing departments and other services (Richardson and 
Corbishley, 1999). A number of local authorities outside London experience what the 
SEU termed ‘medium in, medium out’ levels of mobility (SEU, 2006). 

However, evidence from the Greater London Authority’s Data Management and 
Analysis Group suggests that in each year since 1998-99 London’s population has 
moved from being British-born to overseas-born at the rate of about 100,000 per year 
(Office for National Statistics, 2006).  This trend continues.  No other region is 
changing – in terms of the place of birth of residents – at this speed.  This factor alone 
implies that London is likely to be affected by population mobility rather more than 
any other region within the UK.

Tables 3 and 4 below show (Table 3) the increase in population between 1991 and 
2001 for the ‘top ten’ London boroughs in terms of rising population, and (Table 4) 
the ‘top ten’ in terms of the proportion of the 2001 population born outside the UK.  
In each case, the rank within England & Wales is shown for comparative purposes. 

Table 3:  Average percentage change in population, 1991-2001, top 10 London boroughs 

                % change                     Rank 
City of London   +34.0    1 
Tower Hamlets  +17.9    3 

  Newham  +12.8  13 
  Kensington & Chelsea +10.6  32 
  Hackney   +  9.7  44 
  Camden   +  9.6  45 
  Brent   +  9.4  46 
  Kingston  +  8.2  60 
  Southwark  +  7.8  66 
  Redbridge  +  7.5  67 
               (of 376) 

(Source: Census, 2001, Office for National Statistics, 
http://www.statistics.gov.uk/census2001/profiles/rank/ewwhite.asp) 

Table 4:  Percentage of population born outside UK, 2001, top 10 London boroughs 

                     %                           Rank 
Brent   46.6  1 

  Kensington & Chelsea 44.6  2 
  Westminster  44.5  3 
  Newham  38.2  4 
  Ealing   37.3  5 
  Haringey  37.1  6 
  Camden   36.8  7 
  Tower Hamlets  34.7  8 
  Hackney   34.5  9 
  Hammersmith & Fulham 33.6              10  
             (of 376) 
(Source: Census, 2001, Office for National Statistics, 
http://www.statistics.gov.uk/census2001/profiles/rank/ewuk.asp) 

London boroughs saw, in many cases, relatively large population increases between 
1991 and 2001.  These trends appear to have continued subsequently according to 
mid-year estimates.  In terms of ‘population born outside the UK’, London boroughs 

13

40



occupy the top ten places in the country.  Subsequent international immigration will 
almost certainly have increased most of the figures shown in Table 4 by between three 
and six percentage points.  Moreover, the 2001 Census showed that a number of 
London boroughs now have a population that is more than 50 per cent ‘non-White’ 
including those born in the UK. The rate at which new migrants are arriving in the 
city means that it is already home to just under half of all the country’s minority 
ethnic population. 

1.4 Implications of mobility and transience: costs and savings 

There have been few previous efforts to assess the implications of population mobility 
on public service costs.  Indeed, the question of how best to define the ‘churn’ of 
residents within an area and the consequent additional costs to public service 
provision can itself prove awkward.  After all, every council will experience a 
turnover within its population as people move from property to property or because of 
factors such as death and cross-boundary movements.   

But the extent of national and international migration within London is, as the 
numbers in Table 1 suggest, of a different magnitude and type to the usual mobility 
experienced by public services.  The major factors that would appear to be relevant in 
determining additional costs include: 

the overall rate of population ‘turnover’, compared with the national average; 

the extent to which the in-migrant population is, in terms of demographic and 
social make-up, like or unlike the existing population – this may affect service 
costs (such as the need for language provision) or  political management costs; 

the public service needs of in-migrants that result directly from their move into 
the authority; 

the background  and attributes of in-migrants (such as the need to cope with 
people fleeing from persecution, war or other problems; issues associated with 
homelessness, and  the particular issues relating child migrants who enter the 
country on their own); and 

the extent to which migrants have any connections with the area or impact on 
others’ sense of belonging. 

Moving households tend to differ from the average in ways that may generate need 
for services. Lone parent households with dependent children and multi-adult 
households have higher level of mobility, for example. (Survey of English Housing 
2004/05 S221). 17 per cent of households that moved in the last year had incomes 
under £100 a week, compared to 5 per cent overall, and 27 per cent had incomes 
under £200 a week, compared to 23% overall (Survey of English Housing 2004/05 
S236, S113).  On the other hand, many migrants may be young employed people who 
have little need to use local services and may not even register their address.   

14

41



In terms of costs,  the following factors are likely to be particularly relevant: 

Costs of registering new arrivals to addresses in the local authority for their 
obligations eg electoral roll, taxes or for services available to them as residents 
eg social housing lettings, library membership; 
Costs of recognising and dealing with people who have moved to other 
addresses, whether inside or outside the borough who have an obligation to the 
local authority or to whom the local authority has any obligation eg chasing 
rent, tax, fines; updating records (removing ’deadwood’); tracing social 
services cases, school students; 
Costs arising from the specific attributes of migrants, or from changing 
population characteristics brought about by mobility eg changing ethnic or 
language make-up, orientation of international arrivals, political management; 
Costs arising from the interaction of migrants with the established population 
and the extent to which this impacts adversely on social cohesion. 

As is immediately clear, there will be difficulties in creating a precise distinction 
between the costs attributed to ‘mobility’ and all other expenditure pressures.  If there 
is a sudden and sustained rise in the number of electoral registrations above a long-
established trend, it is reasonable to attribute the higher costs of above-trend turnover 
to the costs of mobility.  But if, say, a new family moves into a borough from 
overseas, it may be clear that the costs of managing an above-trend turnover in 
housing stock is a consequence of mobility. However, if their child has a requirement 
for the special adaptation of a council [or temporary] property, is this cost the result of 
mobility or simply the normal cost of providing social housing?   

Moreover, authorities do not routinely keep data about changes in costs directly 
attributable to ‘mobility’.  This study is an attempt to identify the local public services 
where there are believed to be mobility-driven costs and then to make some estimates 
of the likely additional cost per unit.

It has not been possible to provide a comprehensive analysis of the overall impacts 
and costs of mobility to London boroughs.  The difficulty of generating such 
information in the absence of an existing research base means our conclusions are 
inevitably tentative.

1.5 Mobility: resource allocation and the system of public finance  

England’s local government funding arrangements are among the most centralised 
and complex in the world (Loughlin and Martin, 2005).  London boroughs and the 
Greater London Authority receive the bulk of their financial resources from national 
sources.  If, as this paper shows, the make-up of the capital’s population is changing 
rapidly, while there has also been a growth in mobility and transience, there will 
inevitably be higher public service costs. 

As new migrants and a rising population generate economic benefits (according to 
Home Office research), it might be expected that tax revenues would increase, both 
for national and local government.  However, because 95 per cent of the taxation paid 
in the UK is collected by the Exchequer, there is little opportunity for councils to 

15

42



benefit from rising tax incomes.  Moreover, equalisation arrangements reduce the 
gains that might otherwise flow to local government.

Higher costs associated with rising and more complex populations should, in theory, 
be reflected in the complex system of spending need support built into the local 
government grant arrangements.  But for reasons that will be explained later in this 
paper, London councils are very unlikely to derive pound-for-pound increases in their 
general government support to match higher spending needs.

The poor quality data, and grant system inflexibility, that are increasing features of 
the English local government funding system are therefore a key element in 
understanding why the higher costs and social cohesion issues identified in this paper 
are of direct relevance to London boroughs.

16

43



2.  The Framework of Analysis 

2.1 Identifying the movers and types of move 

There are a number of factors which are likely to be relevant to assessing the cost of 
moving populations to both local services and social cohesion.  In many contexts 
these are seen as being generated on the one hand by international and national 
migration and on the other by issues associated with  ethnicity.  Actuality is far more 
complex than this and needs at least to be broken down in principle in order to 
understand the nature of the costs and problems. Some of the factors affecting the 
costs of movement are as follows: 

The distance moved: distinguishing between short distance moves, which may not 
involve much change in service except those related to the dwelling and longer 
distance moves where people must move between services such as health and 
social services.  Costs associated with moving home will affect all types of mover; 
but if the move crosses administrative boundaries costs will normally be higher 
the further the move. 

Household type, including in particular the number of people in the household and 
their age structure as this affects the number of services involved.  If there are 
children in the household there will clearly be a wider range of services involved. 
The size of the household may also be relevant – single people may have more 
limited support mechanisms while larger households have more varied needs. 

Employment status of the household: whether members of the household are 
employed and the household overall is economically sustainable, and therefore 
whether members of the household are likely to use the local employment and 
training facilities. 

Cultural factors: notably language in that if household members are not first 
language English speakers there are direct costs of translation, but also broader 
based costs of ensuring people can use services and are meeting their 
responsibilities and facilitating integration.  Many of these costs will be associated 
with international migrants – but many will not. 

The reasons for moving: in the main any differential outcome will be related to 
factors covered above.  Again the most important separable reason here will be 
homelessness or inappropriate housing and moves associated with vulnerability – 
notably asylum seekers. 

The factors above relate to individual behaviour.  There are then issues arising from 
the aggregation of these moving households to determine overall levels of mobility in 
the neighbourhood and in the authority. Neighbourhood impacts relate to social 
cohesion and the cost of locally based services such as neighbourhood management, 
and possibly waste collection and policing.  At this stage any variation in costs are 
likely to be associated with the extent of social exclusion and deprivation. 

Local authority level costs are associated with the scale of activity linked to mobility 
and transience, and the cost implications of this service provision.  They are also  

17

44



related to the tenure structure of households both because of variations in mobility 
between tenures – with the private rented sector housing by far the most mobile - and 
producing the highest costs associated with homelessness and housing in multiple 
occupation.

Finally, there are potential issues related to how often people move – which is often 
seen to be the most important aspect of social cohesion – both in terms of the 
individual and the local mobility rate.  In this context, rapid mobility of households 
who remain within the authority, often moving because their housing conditions are 
unsuitable, is seen as an important indicator of increased costs not only to services 
such as housing and education but to the social cohesion of neighbourhoods (CRESR, 
2005).

2.2 Identifying the costs to mobility and transience 

From the point of view of local authorities, the most important distinction to be made 
with respect to costs is between: 

proportional costs: in which the higher the mobility rate the higher the 
cost, while the cost per move remains constant; 

disproportional costs: associated first with the type of move and 
mover, and second with the overall level of movement. 

This would generally mean that the higher the level of mobility and/or the more 
mobility from higher cost groups, the higher the average cost per move will be.  In 
some cases of course, per unit costs may be lower because of the type of movers that 
are moving (e.g. affluent, employed).   

A third element of costs which could in principle be distinguished is between direct 
costs (whether proportionate and disproportionate) and spill over costs – affecting the 
behaviour and associated costs in the neighbourhood or authority. 

2.3 Diversion v Additionality 

In many cases there are no necessary additional costs to services other than those 
directly associated with movement.  At the macro level it is only the net additional 
international migrant that matters. 

However there is often a transfer of responsibility from one administrative unit to 
another.  This can transfer the costs of providing services between authorities and may 
generate ‘congestion’ costs in some areas and under use of services in others.  It may 
also involve the provision of subsidised services where the subsidy may or may not 
follow the household or person. This raises the issue of out-of-borough placements 
which clearly concerns authorities that accept homeless and other groups from other 
authorities.  It also raises issues of compensation for net additions to the numbers 
using particular subsidised services, and the extent to which central government 
subsidy allocation and taxation systems compensate for these costs. 

18

45



2.4 Impacts on social cohesion 

Whether or  not mobility and transience impacts on social cohesion depends  upon the 
attributes of those moving into, and the response of those already living in, the 
community.

To some extent these impacts depend upon accepted definitions.  The LGA/Home 
Office Guidance on Community Cohesion (LGA/Home Office, 2002) defines a 
cohesive community as one where: 

there is a common vision and a sense of belonging for all communities; 
the diversity of people’s different backgrounds and circumstances are 
appreciated and positively valued; 
those from different backgrounds have similar life opportunities; and 
strong and positive relationships are being developed between people from 
different backgrounds in the workplace, in schools and within 
neighbourhoods.

In terms of the remit of this project, this relates strongly to issues about access to 
services and the costs of running these services, and is therefore addressed within the 
same framework. However the costs associated with ensuring social cohesion are 
even less readily measured as they include not only those directly relating to 
provision, but also costs of political management and social costs of failure to achieve 
the goals of social cohesion.  In this context, indicators such as the numbers of racial 
incidents reported to the police; levels of anti-social behaviour; truanting; and 
educational achievement may be relevant but are not addressed in this report. 

2.5 Methodology 

The London Councils project actively involved a team of three senior researchers, a 
junior researcher and an administrative officer. 

The main methods used in this study were as follows: 

a literature survey; 

interviews with senior officers in seven London boroughs; 

collection of materials from boroughs’ own research; 

synthesis of the information gathered from literature and 
interviews;

additional research of known sources of research. 

In more detail, the methodology involved: 

First, a detailed study of existing literature and documents provided by London 
boroughs has been conducted and is reported in Appendix A. Together with the 
review of literature, statistical data about population mobility and population turnover 

19

46



in London, mainly based on ONS statistics and neighbourhood statistics, has been 
analysed.

In order to gather as much information as possible, the researchers, with the support 
of London Councils contacted all London borough chief executives by letter at the 
beginning of November to ask about any research that has been led by the boroughs 
on the topic.

The objective of this first stage of research was to identify the services, and boroughs, 
which are the most impacted by population churn. 

We received material from a range of boroughs and organisations which have 
undertaken work on the population turnover theme, which helped us to understand the 
nature of the problems faced by boroughs – notably with respect to accurate data.

The second stage of the research focused on case studies. Case studies aimed to 
provide in-depth analysis of the costs and other factors associated with population 
mobility.  Case studies have been fed in, not only by an analysis of documents 
provided by the boroughs and contacts with council officers, but also by interviews 
with key Borough officers. Interviews were held either face-to-face or by telephone 
(the list of interviewees is at Appendix B and the semi-structured questionnaire is 
provided at Appendix C).  The questionnaire was produced after detailed analysis of 
questionnaires used in the URBACT study on population mobility.  

Seven boroughs, from inner and outer London, were identified for their high rates of 
population turnover and other relevant attributes. They are Hounslow, Barking & 
Dagenham, Lewisham, Haringey, Newham, Westminster and Redbridge. 

The case study boroughs have different characteristics in terms of populations moving 
in and out. For example, Haringey can be characterised as a gateway to London for 
different types of groups arriving in London. The rate of non British national migrants 
and placements in temporary accommodation are high compared with other boroughs. 
Redbridge appears as an area where people move in as the result of upgrade 
movements. Case study choices include boroughs located close together so that the 
differences or similarities of population mobility impacts can be better compared.  

Other key stakeholders also interviewed were the Association of Directors of Social 
Services, the Institute for Community Cohesion and the National Housing Federation.

The investigation has focused particularly on three types of public services: general 
administration, personal social services, and education and children services. Housing 
has also been identified as a key area.

Using this material (the interviews with over 20 officials in the case study boroughs, 
the collection of boroughs’ research, and other findings) the research team was able to 
undertake analysis and estimates looking at the costs to services and social cohesion.  
The last stage of the research has therefore been to analyse interview results and to 
quantify costs of mobility, as far as the information produced by boroughs allows. 
Interview findings were also compared to the data extracted from the literature. As a 

20

47



result, some policy recommendations and opportunities for further research will be 
outlined.

21

48



3. Research findings 

Our research findings are based both on documents provided by the case study areas 
and interviews with key informants in the seven boroughs.  

Barking & Dagenham, Barnet, Enfield, Haringey, Westminster and a number of other 
boroughs have  undertaken research about issues relating to population totals, 
mobility and transience.  Hackney have recently published their own study of 
mobility (Hackney, 2006) while authorities such as Slough, with very similar 
characteristics to London, have undertaken research on the question. An important 
issue that has been addressed is the concern about the accuracy of the 2001 Census 
and the extent to which what data there are do not reflect the later upswing in in-
migration. 

Further research by the boroughs has looked at the impact of mobility on electoral 
registration, the demand for national insurance numbers, homelessness impacts, the 
costs of temporary accommodation and other housing issues.  There is evidence that a 
number of authorities, such as Hounslow, are also in the process of commissioning 
research about mobility-related issues. 

The most detailed research is that undertaken with London Councils on the costs that 
mobility imposes on education. Studies (eg, Association of London Government, 
2005; PriceWaterhouseCoopers, 2006) have shown how pupil mobility and a set of 
wider issues affect the costs and quality of schools.  This study did not seek further 
evidence about the impact of mobility and transience within education, but 
concentrated its efforts on other services which have hitherto received less attention.

In the main however, authorities had little capacity to produce detailed evidence on 
the costs associated with particular types of transience; although many can provide 
some ideas on numbers of people served.  The only exceptions tended to be where 
cost data at the aggregate level had been brought together to enable the borough to bid 
for central government funding to address particular costs –notably lately  on the costs 
of rooflessness among A8 migrants. 

The LSE team interviewed over 20 officers in seven boroughs together with other 
stakeholders (see Appendix B). There was real evidence, among those interviewed, of 
a willingness to engage with and understand the issue.  However, in part because the 
Government has shown little interest in examining the impact of population mobility, 
evidence across boroughs was not kept consistently.

3.1 The understanding of ‘mobility’ and transience 

Most interviewees mention the diversity of in-movers to their borough.  Issues 
concerning mobility and transience are often not seen as separate from the more 
traditional ones of ethnic minority status and asylum seekers.  When asked about the 
borough’s experience of population mobility and its consequences, many officers 
describe the diversity of the authority’s in-migrants and/or their problems.  Such 
issues may be an element in mobility, though they are not precisely the same issue. 

22

49



Some officials observed that there are different kinds of migrant: some may generate 
costs for the borough, though others will bring few costs.  Indeed, aspiring migrants 
may drive up the quality of local services which might, in the longer term, reduce the 
costs of their provision.

There is a strong perception that mobility has increased in recent years.  Some 
boroughs, eg Barking & Dagenham, have commissioned studies that track the 
movement of people in and out of their borough. Others, eg Westminster, have 
undertaken significant official inquiries into population totals because of perceived 
failures in the 2001 Census.  There is widespread belief that the Census was an 
imprecise measure of some boroughs’ populations.      

3.2 Separating ‘mobility’ from other issues 

Some boroughs are concerned with fast-rising populations, while others are seeing 
much slower growth. Even where there is overall population stability, there are large 
numbers of people moving in and out – creating ‘churn’.  Much work is, it would 
appear, being undertaken (or is about to be commissioned) about the accuracy of 
official population figures (eg, in Harrow, Hounslow, Westminster                              
and Haringey).  Few boroughs believe either the Census or mid-year estimates 
represent an accurate assessment of their total population.  There is more interest in 
getting these overall numbers ‘right’ than in the costs and consequences of 
mobility/transience.  However, the difficulties of describing and measuring the costs 
of transience may inhibit consideration of the issue.

3.3 Evidence about higher costs 

High costs are a feature of a number of boroughs’ administrative services.  One 
Director of Finance (of an ‘outer’ borough with ‘inner’ characteristics) stated: “when 
you look at the costs per claim, a lot of the difference [between his borough’s costs 
and those of other authorities] – though not all – goes away”.  The implication is that 
turnover is a major factor in generating additional costs. Council tax collection, 
benefits administration, electoral registration and a number of other administrative 
services will be affected by such rises in transaction numbers.   

Housing and homelessness services are particularly affected by mobility.  As new 
migrants move into the city, some will qualify for local authority assistance. Any 
increase in migration above a long-term trend will generate an equivalent margin of 
higher costs.  The NHS and social services are also believed to suffer significantly 
greater costs than would otherwise be the case as a result of mobility and transience.

One borough had done particularly detailed work on the numbers of migrants 
involved - in the context of council tax over 40,000 per annum, but only 14,000 for 
electoral registration.  However in the main it is not possible to separate the costs 
associated with migrants as such from others with similar problems. In particular it is 
not possible to clarify the marginal costs of additional migrants – although there was 
qualitative evidence that costs per case increased with the number of cases above the 
borough’s expected average, in part because of stress on the system. 

23

50



The following tables set out the potential direct and indirect costs of mobility for 
different public service areas and of different types of mobility and mobile household. 

24

51



Table: Potential direct and indirect costs of mobility for different public service 
areas

Direct costs Indirect costs:  
Higher for some groups 
(frequent movers, asylum 
seekers, ex-offenders) 

Housing Housing advice 
Refurbishment after departure 
Decorating and/or repairing 
empty homes 
Rent arrears management 
Administrative cost of 
allocation of housing to one 
household / individual
Running hostels/ temporary 
accommodation
Securing homes from 
vandals/squatters
Inspecting homes, performing 
statutory electric checks, and; 
time delay until new resident 
starts paying rent 

Special housing support 
Unquantifiable additional 
workload for social workers 
Indirect costs of overcrowding 

General
Administration 

National Insurance Number 
registrations
Voting rolls registrations
Information to new residents 
(recycling for example)  
Translation services 
Council tax collection 
Planning services  - Respect 
of planning rules and 
procedures – loss of the 
benefits of regeneration 
schemes 

Costs induced by lack of 
information on the population,  
for example, too many people 
registered
Waste of resources (for example 
in terms of waste management, 
bins, plastic bags) 
Changes of population mix – 
implies changes in translation 
needs

Schools Registrations (administrative) 
School material (books/ 
notebooks)
Additional Tutorials
Language courses 

Disruption to class learning path 
Unquantifiable additional 
workload for teachers 

Social Services Translation services 
Registrations

Specific support to homeless 
people, asylum seekers, women 
escaping violent households 

Health
Services

GP registrations 
Heavy operations (lack of 
regular checks) 
Emergency services 

Mental health treatment 
Treatment of addictions 

25

52



Table: Potential direct and indirect costs of different types of mobility and 
different types of mobile household 
Group Proportional cost

Become higher in 
proportion with the rate 
of mobility/numbers of 
mobile households 

Disproportionate cost 
Quantity and nature of service 
delivery, associated with the 
type of movers 

Students Registrations
Information  
Administrative costs 

Households in the private 
rented sector 

Registrations 
Information  
Administrative costs 

Households with multiple 
social problems 

Registrations 
Information  
Administrative costs 

Specific social services 
support
Health and addiction issues 
Education and child welfare 
issues
Policing

Rough sleepers Information  
Administrative costs 

Registrations 
Policing
Specific support  
Hostel accommodation 

Statutorily homeless 
households

Registrations 
Information  
Administrative costs 

Specific support  
Temporary accommodation 
Education and child welfare 
issues

Asylum seekers Registrations
Information  
Administrative costs 

Translation costs 
Temporary accommodation 
Special support services 
Health and addiction issues
Education and child welfare 
issues

International migrants Registrations  
Information  
Administrative costs  

Translation costs 
Time necessary for service 
delivery

3.4 The measurement of costs 

Most officers interviewed had no rigorous and reliable numbers for the additional 
costs generated by mobility/transience – even where they were certain there were such 
costs. Perhaps this is unsurprising, given that Whitehall departments and inspectors 
have generally shown little concern for the issue.  There is a risk that councils do not 
measure the costs of mobility because they do not feel central departments take the 
issue seriously.  However, some were able to supply their own estimates of the kinds 
of costs associated with mobility and transience. 

26

53



Examples of costs included: 

Electoral registration 

Examples were provided by boroughs of the need for one or more additional staff post 
to process additional electoral registration because of population mobility. Annual 
cost estimated as at least c£30,000 to £35,000 to deal with c500 to c575 additional 
registrations. Applied uniformly across all London boroughs, this might imply an 
additional cost of just over £1m per annum for electoral registration 

Council tax registration 

Turnover of council tax registration may be up to 35 or 40 per cent per annum in 
some boroughs. Examples were provided of the need for up to eight additional staff 
posts being required to handle additional council tax registration.  This is likely to be 
a high figure, on the basis of evidence elsewhere. But the complexity of ensuring new 
migrants understand issues such as the need for registration, the definition of a 
‘household’ and the need to chase arrears (made worse, it was widely stated, by ‘buy-
to-let’) had led to major and increased new demands on many boroughs.  Even if there 
were only one to three additional staff in the average borough, this would imply 
London-wide additional costs of between £1 million and £3 million per year.  

Language/Translation services 

New migrants, especially those from countries where English is not widely spoken, 
often need translation services.  Interviewees stated that the influx of people from 
eastern Europe had significantly increased the demand for translation services. No 
precise estimates of cost were available, though even modest provision involving five 
part-time translators would, across the capital cost millions of pounds per year. A 
BBC report recently estimated that translation services could cost £100 million per 
year across the country – a figure that was not contradicted by the government.  Given 
the concentration of overseas born residents within London, it appears likely that up 
to £50 million may need to be spent by public services in London.  The boroughs 
would be likely to fund a significant proportion of this cost.

The Audit Commission report (2007) emphasises the importance of being able to 
communicate with new migrants across services.  It also notes the costs associated 
with the provision of interpretation services and the different means of providing 
them.  They note a DWP report which suggests that professional interpretation, 
though costly, may often be necessary (ECOTEC 2004). 

Homelessness

Homelessness budgets are probably the most hard-hit by transience.  Homelessness is 
a form of mobility or outcome of mobility in itself, and homeless acceptance 
generates further mobility as people usually get temporary and then permanent 
accommodation. People who are in priority need, but were found to be intentionally 
homeless, can get housing for 28 days, again generating more mobility.  

27

54



Westminster was able to provide some costs associated with non-Westminster 
residents who use their homelessness services.  They state that in 2004, perhaps £2.77 
million - some 20% of the budget for statutory homeless people was employed 
addressing the problems of non-Westminster residents.  These are net costs borne by 
the General Fund.

On rough sleeping their figures point to an immense churn among those on the street  
with perhaps a quarter of those found in each count not in the one before.  A third of 
those attending the Passage Day centre only make one visit.   A major problem of 
transience is the amazing amount of churn and therefore set up costs associated with 
each vulnerable person - it is thus not just the average number supported that matters, 
but how rapid the turnover is within the total. 

Among hostel dwellers in Westminster, nearly 20 per cent come from abroad (within 
which half have been  asylum seekers); a further   20 per cent from outside London, 
and finally 50 per cent plus from outside Westminster only 8 per cent of hostel 
dwellers are therefore locals.   Westminster does not see trend growth in these figures 
- which vary with the economic cycle and with policy - but the mix is changing with 
increasing concerns about homelessness and rough sleeping among A8 migrants. 

Temporary accommodation need 

London is accepted as having relatively large numbers of households who are 
accepted as homeless.  Overall, the rate of homelessness and concealed homelessness 
in the capital is (according to work undertaken by Crisis and the New Policy Institute) 
estimated to run at broadly double the national rate. Local authority costs will include 
the need to fund hostel places, refuges and bed & breakfast accommodation.  
According to the Crisis/NPI estimates, the costs associated with these services are: 
Hostel place: £400 per week; Refuge place: £400 per week; Bed & breakfast place:  
£150 per week.  The costs to councils of interviewing and processing are estimated as 
between £450 and £850 per place. According to the GLA, there were over 62,000 
households in temporary accommodation in the London boroughs in May 2006.  

Crisis also notes that the money it is calling for  in the Comprehensive Spending 
Review (£100million a year over three years) is dwarfed by the costs of rehabilitation 
associated with homelessness.  Tribal found that homeless households were five times 
as likely to need hospital treatment as the average – at £2,500 per admission and 
eleven times as likely to use other services at £6,000 per event. A homeless person is 
nearly 50 times more likely to suffer violence at a cost of £360 per occurrence.  
Overall the costs of homelessness are argued to be as high as £50,000 per annum. 

Of course, not all are newly homeless, or ‘above-trend’, in terms of their mobility.  
Transience has long been a feature in London.  However, given the rapid nature of 
recent population growth and mobility, a proportion of homelessness costs in London 
boroughs will be attributable to transience.  Such a number is likely, on conservative 
estimates, to be several tens of millions of pounds per year, though it is impossible to 
be precise.

The issue of out-of-borough placements of households in temporary accommodation 
was also raised as a potential mobility cost for the ‘receiving’ authority.  In this 

28

55



instance, the non-housing costs are borne by the ‘receiving’ authority rather than the 
‘originating’ one.  Boroughs using out-of-borough placements often concentrate on 
accommodating local households within their own borough.  This may mean that the 
costs of those housed elsewhere can be higher because of  lack of family and other 
support mechanisms. 

Street homelessness

In central London authorities, is has been estimated that street homelessness includes 
30 to 40 people from Poland.  Home Office grant of £167,000 is paid to fund 
provision – circa £400 to £500 per homeless person. It is not clear whether there are 
any additional impacts on boroughs’ own costs, though this is likely.  More generally, 
street homelessness is the most direct evidence of transience and boroughs with 
significant  problems can be spending many millions in addressing the issues.  One 
borough spoke of settling over 500 rough sleepers in accommodation  in 2005/06 as 
well as providing additional services to transients over the last two years in response 
to a rapid increase in the numbers needing help mainly from outside the borough and 
often from outside the country.  

Housing advice 

Much of the total cost of the service due either to dealing with (forced, unwelcome) 
mobility or threats of loss of home, or enabling mobility (finding new homes for 
homeless or those threatened with homelessness). 

Permanent housing need 

Once new migrants move out of temporary accommodation, many will require 
permanent homes.  Given the pre-existing shortage of such property, mobility will add 
marginal higher costs on the existing major cost of London housing. This issue is 
discussed in more detail elsewhere in this report. 

Social housing lettings 

The cost of social housing lettings activities, as a means to, or a form of, mobility, 
could be all or partly  seen as a cost of mobility in itself. Many London and other 
councils have decided on a cost-benefit basis that levels of turnover amongst the 
applicant population themselves mean that an annual review of the register is 
worthwhile. Choice Based Lettings pass some of work of maintaining the register and 
administering lettings policy to applicants, but in practice have not meant any 
reduction in local authority and RSL activity, with new roles in advertising access, 
and providing support to some potential applicants. 

Social housing management and maintenance 

Several studies of the correlates or drivers of housing management costs point to 
mobility or tenancy turnover rates. Balkman et al. found that costs correlated with the 
proportion of flats and resident deprivation (which are likely to be correlated to 
mobility) (1992). Another study from the same period included mobility as a key 
correlate, and found that the proportion of flats, average density and the number of 

29

56



lettings - as an indicator of turnover and mobility - together accounted for  up to 75 
per cent of the variance in costs between councils (Bines et al., 1993). According to 
ODPM, BRE found void and re-let levels to be a significant driver of costs. Their 
national ‘need to spend’ model estimates that some 14% of total maintenance costs 
for all England arise simply from works to empty homes. In addition, they found that  
voids management and allocations account for around 15% of national total 
management costs (ODPM, 2003b). After this work, ODPM decided recently to add 
an indicator of mobility to the formulae currently used to calculate management and 
maintenance costs. Management costs are to be calculated from the number of relets 
per year and voids,  as well as the built form, age and size of each authority's housing 
stock, repairs backlog , crime levels, and regional variations in building costs. 
Maintenance costs are to be calculated from the number of re-lets per year and voids 
rates, as well as the size of the authority and factors such as the proportion of flats . 
(ODPM, 2003a, 2003b).

As in the case of other local authority revenue functions, maintaining rent accounts 
and chasing arrears are affected by mobility. Many local authorities have specialised 
‘former tenants’ arrears officers’ which are a direct cost of (high) mobility. 

Housing-related support 

Most of the costs of several other specialised services provided by local authority 
housing departments, RSLs and social service departments could be attributed to high 
mobility or attempts to reduce it. These include travellers’ services (this was a big 
issue in the selected boroughs), sustaining tenancies and floating support costs for ex-
homeless or otherwise vulnerable people (borne by Local authorities, RSLs, 
Supporting People budgets, and voluntary organisations), specialised services for 
asylum seekers and refugees, and all of the costs of  temporary accommodation  

Houses in multiple occupation  

These have, it has been reported to us, rapidly increased in number.  Slough BC has 
estimated it costs £400 per property to investigate each one.  Many London authorities 
are having to devote resources to this issue. Applied in the capital, the Slough 
numbers would suggest the need to inspect even 10 properties per borough per year 
would lead to overall costs of £120,000.

Housing benefit requirement (administration) 

As in the previous section, ‘above trend’ mobility generates new housing benefit 
processing requirements of the kind experienced for council tax and electoral 
registration.  No numbers were quoted by interviewees, but some higher costs are 
inevitable.

Asylum claim assistance 

Although the numbers of asylum seekers are well down on those experienced at their 
peak, London boroughs remain among the main recipients of new residents who are 
claiming asylum.  Officers will be involved in providing advice and possibly 

30

57



resources (see below) to such individuals.  No estimates are available, though the 
costs will be real. 

Schools

The research cited in the literature survey, undertaken for the Association of London 
Government, suggested that in a primary school, enrolment of a new child, plus work 
with the parents and child, averaged 14½ additional hours at an estimated cost of £400 
each.  For secondary schools, the same process represents an average of 29 hours of 
additional work and estimated costs of about £800. Moreover the study also reported 
that pupil mobility also required difficult-to-quantify work involving teachers and 
others such as extra learning and teaching support staff, which has been estimated to 
fall within a range of zero to 62 hours per child.

Above-trend mobility and transience will add to the costs of many London schools.  
In some cases, the proportion of pupils arriving and leaving during the course of a 
year can range from a third to a half.  In other parts of the country, such numbers 
would be very much lower.   

English language training 

New migrants will, in many cases, require language training to fit them out for life in 
Britain. Interviewees in a number of boroughs observed that they believed people 
move to an authority in the first instance and then, as they become more settled, move 
on.  Some boroughs find themselves having to provide language training for an 
‘escalator’ of people moving into the country.  While no estimates of cost were given, 
even modest levels of language training for a London ‘foreign-born’ population that 
increases by 100,000 per annum would cost tens of millions of pounds. (20,000 
people trained at a cost of £1,000 per head would lead to total costs of £20 million). 

Council tax benefit requirement 

As with housing benefit turnover, the demands of a mobile population will add to 
those that would normally be experienced in any authority.  The risk that complex 
rules might be misunderstood, or of fraud, mean that new migrants will require a 
disproportionate amount of time devoted to their cases. Interviewees confirmed this 
issue, but no cost estimates were available. 

Social services needs 

The URBACT report discussed in the literature survey considered ‘transition costs’ as 
people moved from one status to another after they arrive in Britain. There is a need 
for services assisting people as they move from specialist support services to 
mainstream provision, and as groups such as asylum seekers move towards self-
reliance. Interviewees accept this is an issue, though cost estimates were not available. 

A DfES/GOL report (2006), undertaken by PriceWaterhouseCoopers and considered 
in the literature review (see Appendix A), concluded that many services would be 
affected by the consequences of mobility among the young.  The government’s 
consultants stated: “In London, and the local authorities surrounding London which 

31

58



children and young people move between, the challenge to be able to adapt is 
particularly high.  This is because of the disproportionately high numbers of children 
in need and looked after children, and the high level of movement in London, within 
and between Boroughs for schooling and other statutory and non-statutory services”. 

Destitution costs 

Boroughs are, by law, responsible for support to persons from abroad with no 
recourse to public funds.  One borough provided details of its need to spend about 
£1.2 million in 2005-06 on such support.  Other authorities would generally need to 
spend rather less that this, but the overall cost across London will probably range 
from £10 to £20 million.  

Regeneration

Efforts to regenerate boroughs must ‘run hard to stand still’ in places such as 
Southwark and Newham.  Ambitious populations move on once they have become 
successful, making achievement of government targets difficult.  Costs are higher 
because the authority is always starting again with new residents. 

Planning

Planning departments have additional costs as new populations behave differently 
and/or make new demands on the area.  Examples of new, informal, housing 
development were reported in one borough, though others accepted that new 
communities may, on occasion, use housing in innovative ways that challenge 
existing planning rules.  Others have met costs because of need for new churches on 
non-traditional sites.

The NHS

Although not a borough responsibility, the NHS was widely reported by borough 
officers to suffer significant costs, as many new migrants do not register with GPs, so 
people go immediately to Accident & Emergency services. Moreover, it is hard to 
undertake any preventive care with many mobile/new populations.  There will be 
knock-on cost implications for social services as a result of NHS costs. 

Overall assessment

There is no way that the numbers citied above can be added together to produce a 
single, robust, total for ‘mobility costs’ within London.  We have been clear that it is 
difficult to be precise even about ‘above trend’ mobility let alone disproportionate 
costs.  Nor is it possible to draw a line between whether particular expenditure needs 
result from ‘transience’ or more normal factors.   

What is clear is that transients and migrants fall into two main categories – those that 
are likely to impose lower than average costs on services because they do not need to 
use these services and often do not even register to do so; and those that have needs 
over and above the average mover – in some cases far in excess because of particular 
household circumstances and earlier experiences.

32

59



More generally, increased population and mobility clearly put stress on existing 
services and therefore increased costs – either direct or social costs - because of 
poorer services and unequal access. In this context it is easy to see that new entrants 
(whether or not they are potentially transient ) will be seen as one of the causes of 
inadequate services  -and this then leads on to difficulties – and the need for 
expenditure on political management and initiatives to improve social inclusion. 

The figures suggested in the sub-headings above would imply annual costs to London 
boroughs of substantial sums that are very likely to exceed £100 million per annum 
and which might do so by a  larger amount.   

33

60



4. Implications for Public Services 

The literature survey, interviews and other research conducted for this study have 
produced much evidence about the impact of population mobility and transience on 
services provided both by London boroughs and other public services.  It is evident 
that those providing such services are, in many cases, able to point to costs, pressures 
on staff, and a lack of effective provision for many residents who move to or within 
the authority. 

However, there are significant difficulties (as stated earlier) in making precise 
measurements of many of the impacts of mobility.  It is possible to produce evidence 
of the kind quoted in the State of the English Cities Report which showed that both 
within-UK and international migration had a significantly greater impact in London 
than in other kinds of city, town and rural area.  There appears to be a settled pattern 
of people moving in large numbers in and out of London, to the rest of the UK, and to 
and from overseas. 

Many London borough officers see their authority as facing a population that is 
constantly changing.  For those such as Barking & Dagenham, Newham, Haringey 
Hounslow and Lewisham (though this finding will undoubtedly apply to others such 
as Southwark, Hackney and even parts of Westminster) there is a strong sense that 
people move into the borough (generally at the very start of their time in London) and 
then move on to another authority. 

New migrants to an authority are likely to require some or all of a number of public 
services.  The poorer and more dependent such people are, the greater the likely cost 
to the authorities concerned.  These costs, many of which have been discussed above, 
include those listed below.  Potential service demands, which will not apply to all 
migrants, are listed in broad order they are likely to be needed.

Temporary accommodation need 
Translation services 
Housing benefit requirement 
Asylum claim assistance 
Registration at school(s) 
English language training 
Council tax registration 
Council tax benefit requirement 
Social services needs 
Permanent housing need 
Home adaptation need 
Re-registration for council tax 
Re-registration for council tax benefit 
Planning service demands 
Environmental service demands 

Thus, it is possible to imagine a stylised account of a new family arriving in a 
borough, such as Newham or Barking & Dagenham, who might go through the 

34

61



following process of assimilation and service use. It is not likely that a single family 
would follow this precise path and in this order, but the general point is well made.   

International migration 

On first arrival, they may immediately need temporary accommodation. It may be 
necessary for the authority to have translation services ready to help with processing 
their requirements.  Once accommodation has been found, there will almost certainly 
be a need for a housing benefit claim.  Some migrants will have asylum problems that 
the council may need to provide advice about.  If there are children in the household, 
it will be important to move them as quickly as possible into a local school.  Both 
children and their parents may then require English language training.  Any household 
that does not pay rent inclusive of council tax will have to register for council tax.  
Many new householders will qualify for council tax benefit. Once settled into a home 
and school, it is likely that some will need social services support and will then seek 
permanent accommodation from a social landlord.  Processing such demands may be 
complex because of the limited availability of homes and the needs-based allocation 
system.  

A permanent or longer-term temporary home may need adaptation for elderly or 
disabled members of the household.  Where there is a movement from temporary to 
permanent (or new temporary) accommodation, it will be necessary to re-register for 
council tax, council tax benefit and housing benefit.  New householders may then 
decide to change their homes, thus requiring planning services.  Similarly, new 
residents may place additional demands on local environmental provision, especially 
if they are from a significantly different cultural background to that found in London.

Few new migrants to London will understand who does what and how to access 
services.  ‘The Council’ will inevitably be the first reference point for virtually all 
cases.  Although it might be argued that the stylised account above might apply to any 
new household moving to London, the research conducted for this report has 
undoubtedly suggested there has been a significant growth in mobility and thus in the 
kind of demands on councils suggested above.  The overall international migration 
data shown in Table 1 of this report attest to the radical change that has occurred in 
international movement.  Many of our interviewees believed (and could in some cases 
produce evidence) that population estimates were significantly under-counting 
international migration to London. 

Mobility within London 

Costs relating to mobility can occur quite independently of international migration or 
of any form of long distance migration. Another stylised account describes an 
individual or a household that may have lived in London for many years, even for the 
entire lives of all its members, but with frequent changes of address within the city. 

For some households, frequent moves can be a symptom of multiple social problems, 
including poverty, mental health problems, addictions, learning difficulties, violent 
personal relationships, and difficulty coping with family and household 
responsibilities, with neighbours, or  involvement in crime (Keane and Corbishley, 
1999; DCLG, 2005). Households may choose to move home to get away from 

35

62



problems with neighbours, from or debts, or to try to improve their situation. They 
may be forced to move through conflict with neighbours or debtors, rent arrears, or 
pressure or legal proceedings from private or social landlords, or loss of owned 
homes. Local authorities and other public agencies may have intense contact with 
these households on a reactive basis or at times of crisis. In addition to proving extra 
assistance to enable household members to register with standard services, such as 
GPs and  schools, public agencies may prepare complex - and costly - packages of 
support or intervention for household members or the entire family, for example 
combining the activities of police, social services and the health service. However, the 
disruption of moves, particularly forced moves, may themselves add to households’ 
problems, and will clearly derail any service plans. This creates extra costs to 
services, as designated resources may go unused, while staff time is spent in re-
establishing links with the household. The household may have moved to another 
administrative area or service team, even if they are within the same borough, so that 
relationships between services and between the household and services have to be re-
established. The household may break up, with different members in different areas 
yet still possibly requiring support.

Some of this high mobility is likely to be ‘concealed mobility’, in parallel to and 
linked to the phenomenon of concealed homelessness. Some studies of areas with low 
demand for housing have identified small numbers of households who maintained 
extremely high rates of mobility for extended periods (eg Richardson and Corbishley, 
1999). However, the extent to which any household, particularly a multi-member 
household, and particularly one with child members, can continue to move like this 
within London’s tight housing market is limited. Chaotic and frequently moving 
individuals may end up as rough sleepers. Chaotic and frequently moving households 
with children or other recognised vulnerability are likely to end up presenting to a 
local authority and being accepted as homeless. They may then go through the usual 
homelessness route,  which in itself implies further, if state-sanctioned and supported, 
mobility. They may receive first of all very short-term temporary accommodation, 
followed by further temporary accommodation usually in the private rented or social 
sector, with a view to a secure or assured tenancy in the social rented sector in about 
two years. This may be in the local authority in which they made the claim, but 
substantial numbers will be housed further away, meaning support can only be 
provided once new services have become aware of their needs and new relationships 
are established.  

At any point in this process, if there is insufficient support to enable them to maintain 
their accommodation, the household may lose or leave its accommodation once more, 
and move into another cycle of homelessness.  

Some borough respondents identified small numbers of households involved in this 
kind of process, whose needs had a disproportionate impact on services, partly due to 
the costs of their mobility.  

Low cost mobility 

It is important to note that some mobility into and within London may work to reduce 
costs.  Some boroughs are likely to receive new migrants, or people moving from 
another London borough, who are travelling up the escalator of establishing 

36

63



themselves within Britain.  Thus, some interviewees have pointed to highly-educated 
migrants from Africa who are moving into London schools and helping to raise 
standards.  Elsewhere, there is evidence that earlier migrants to London (especially 
those who arrived between the 1950s and 1970s) are now, as they become more 
affluent, moving to boroughs such as Redbridge and Harrow where their acquired 
skills and attributes may make them relatively easy to settle.  Of course, these 
boroughs themselves receive new migrants, so they will face some of the mobility 
costs discussed elsewhere in this report.  But the overall impact of mobility and 
transience on a number of authorities may be less costly than for others.

The demands on services arising because of mobility will fall on a number of different 
council departments.  What were previously education departments, personal social 
services, planning, environmental health, housing and central services would all have 
seen increased costs because of migration and transience.  Evidence suggests that 
auditors will also have had to increase their workload to check the larger numbers of 
increasingly complex benefit and council tax cases.  New ‘children’s services’ 
departments will now bear the costs of schools and part of social services demands, 
while in many boroughs there have been other re-configurations of departmental 
structures. Nevertheless, it remains the case that a number of different departments 
will have to put in place staff and facilities to cope with an increasingly mobile 
population.

There are wider implications for London borough services than the direct impacts on 
departments and officials.  In many authorities, there is a painful competition for 
scarce services and resources.  The arrival of mobile populations and new migrants 
will intensify such competition in ways documented earlier in this report.  Because the 
system of resource allocation, discussed in the following section, is inflexible and 
slow to respond, there is little doubt that at the margin there is a risk that mobility will 
create costs and pressures that, in turn, deny services to other local residents.  This is 
potentially a controversial and difficult issue that will also be considered in the 
section on social cohesion.

A recent example of the potential knock-on impact of mobility costs has been 
provided by Hillingdon’s need to support unaccompanied asylum seekers.  These 
numbers are significant compared with all other local authorities (Heathrow Airport is 
in the borough) and, while asylum numbers are lower nationally than in recent years, 
they are still above the numbers that were deemed the ‘trend’ in the longer-term past.  

Hillingdon is supporting 900 unaccompanied asylum seekers, the highest number of 
any council in Britain. Government grant to support such individuals has been 
changed, with the result that the council estimates it will have to fund £1.6m for the 
financial year 2004/05 which was not, at the time, planned for. It will also have to 
fund £4.7m for the financial year 2005/06 and there will be an estimated on-going 
future annual impact of £6m. 

It is to be expected that a borough with the world’s largest international airport would 
have large numbers of migrants entering it.  Many will immediately pass along the 
Piccadilly Line into other authorities.  But a proportion, particularly of groups such as 
asylum seekers, will stay put.  The mobility of the global population shows up 
relatively visibly in Hillingdon. 

37

64



There will be an impact both on the borough’s services for asylum seekers and also, if 
there is insufficient government grant, on other services that will face shortfalls if 
resources are diverted to cover the additional costs of high levels of ‘mobile’ 
residents.  This example is a particular one, given Heathrow’s location, but the 
principle is likely to hold more generally and for less visible kinds of cost-driver.

38

65



5. Social Cohesion 

‘Social cohesion’ is a concept that has been used increasingly in recent years to 
describe the shape and health of civil society within an area.  People use the term 
differently from time to time.  But generally the term is applied to the relationships 
between people living within an area, in terms of their social, economic and cultural 
relations.  Cohesion can be strengthened or weakened by factors such as changes in 
the economy, demography or the physical environment.   

Over the last few years the term has been used particularly in relation to issues around 
cultural and ethnic differences, notably in response to the riots in Northern cities as a 
result of which the government introduced social cohesion partnerships.  In the 
context of mobility and transience it is important to distinguish between these rather 
more specific uses and the more general issue of the health of the community overall. 

The State of the English Cities report viewed social cohesion as a “multi-faceted 
notion covering many different kinds of social phenomena.  The different dimensions 
of cohesion include: 

Material conditions, such as employment, income, health, education 
and housing; 

Social order, safety and freedom from fear, or ‘passive social 
relationships’;

Positive interactions, exchanges and networks between individuals 
and communities, or ‘active social relationships’ 

The extent of social inclusion, or integration of people into the 
mainstream institutions of civil society; 

Social equality, meaning the level of fairness or disparity of access to 
opportunities or material circumstances (State of the English Cities, 
Volume 1, p109)  

More recently, the new Commission on Integration and Cohesion’s terms of reference 
included the need to consider how local areas themselves can play a role in forging 
cohesive and resilient communities, by: 

“a) Examining the issues that raise tensions between different groups in different 
areas, and that lead to segregation and conflict; 

b) Suggesting how local community and political leadership can push further 
against perceived barriers to cohesion and integration; 

c) Looking at how local communities themselves can be empowered to tackle 
extremist ideologies; 

39

66



d) Developing approaches that build local areas’ own capacity to prevent 
problems, and ensure they have the structures in place to recover from periods of 
tension” (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2006a). 

This latter view of social cohesion is evidently more concerned with particular aspects 
of migration and political extremism.  The fact that it is rather different from the State
of the English Cities view is indicative of the ways in which the term can be used by 
people in particular ways.

Whichever definitions or descriptions of social cohesion are used, it is almost certain 
that mobility will inevitably have an impact on it.  Large numbers of people moving 
in and out of an area will potentially impact upon most aspects of both of the 
definitions outlined above.  

There is a correlation between longevity of residence in an area and the maintenance 
of ‘active social relationships’ in the area, an element of social cohesion (eg. as in the  
State of the English Cities definition).  Length of residence is linked to having more 
friends and relatives in the area, and to the availability of social support (Coulthard, 
2000). There is even evidence that length of residence may have health effect, for 
example on the likelihood of smoking, possibly partly because people with more 
socials support are able to lead healthier lives (Parkes and Kearns, 2004). Length of 
residence has also been linked to the degree of social mixing between owners and 
renters in areas where tenure had been diversified with the specific hope of increasing 
social cohesion across housing tenure and income groups (Atkinson and Kintrea, 
1998). London has already been found to be the ‘least neighbourly’ region in 
England, with people least likely to know and trust their neighbours (Coulthard et al.,  
2002), partly because of high mobility rates. 

It is local authorities that carry out and provide many of the statutory duties and 
services such as electoral registration, children’s education, and personal social 
services that condition ‘mainstream institutions’ which all people need to be 
integrated into to support ‘social equality’ which are elements of social cohesion (eg. 
According to the State of the English Cities definition). As we have seen, high or 
increase d population mobility creates extra difficulties and costs for local authorities 
and other service providers in integrating people into these mainstream institutions.  

The additional unrecognised costs to public services resulting from high mobility 
could also create challenges for maintaining and building social cohesion. Where 
mobility is higher, people may have fewer friends and relatives in the area, and less 
social support, and are less likely to be involved in local organisations, which could 
all create greater demands on public services to perform these functions instead. In 
some cases, there is a direct, in undesirable, link between migration/mobility and 
political behaviour.  A 2005 study for the Joseph Rowntree Reform Trust (Rowntree, 
2005, p15) suggested that extremist political parties were exploiting (unfounded) 
allegations about the priority given to new migrants in public service provision.  

The Department for Communities and Local Government, in its 2006 study Moving 
on: reconnecting frequent movers, stated that frequent movers can have a number of 
unfortunate impacts on social cohesion: 

40

67



they create feelings of anxiety and have a destabilising effect on 
long-term residents; 

cause fears that community identity will change; 

give rise to perceptions of ‘special treatment’ for newcomers; 

lead to mixed feelings among communities about special services 
that may be offered. 

This official summary of the social cohesion impacts certainly ties in the research 
undertaken in London for this study. The costs for political management of such 
impacts is impossible to measure, but real.   

Evidence from interviews and other sources pointed to a number of important issues 
relating mobility and transience to social cohesion issues.  First, a number of 
respondents noted that the increasingly diverse nature of in-migration to their 
boroughs had reduced the concentrations of particular minorities and indeed led to a 
situation where ‘ we are all minorities now’.  In some ways this was seen as easing the 
situation – although there were always likely to be tensions relating to the last 
entrants.  

Secondly, the rapid rise in employment related migration was seen as generating 
problems of anti-social behaviour and local neighbourhood management – often 
simply because of the lack of leisure or adequate housing facilities which result in 
workers congregating on the streets. 

Much of the research which has been undertaken points to concerns arising from 
competition for housing and the extent to which priority needs take precedence over 
what are seen as local entitlements .  This is particularly the case in the context of 
overcrowding, as in most London boroughs this is increasing rapidly in the social 
sector resulting in long waits for rehousing even where the household is statutorily 
overcrowded.

More general issues were seen as arising from a simple lack of information and 
communication.  In this context the role of the local authority is often seen to be to 
help organise (and indeed fund) local voluntary organisations that have more 
knowledge and expertise on the ground. 

It is worth stressing again that many of the perceived problems come more from rapid 
growth in demand than from mobility as such.  Also many boroughs have been used 
to high turnover rates and do not see that as the sore issue – rather that the attributes 
of migrants are changing and it is costly to develop adequately flexible systems to 
respond to their needs. 

Finally it should be carefully noted that many respondents saw migrants as improving 
conditions in the area both in terms of education and of employment and local 
spending power.  Migration and mobility are normal processes.  But the rate of 
increase over the last few years has put particular strains on the system which can be 
expected to continue.

41

68



6. Implications for Resource Allocation 

The English system of government, which is highly centralised by the standards of 
most developed countries, requires over 95 per cent of all tax revenues to be paid to 
the Exchequer.  Council tax, the sole revenue determined beyond the centre (by local 
government), raises only five per cent of all government income.  Moreover, because 
local taxation is capped, there is virtually no discretion in determining overall local 
taxation or expenditure levels.

As a consequence of this top-down system of control, local authorities and other 
public bodies receive funding either through distribution formulae or as the result of 
bidding systems.  Because England has a diverse and complex population of 
50million, the success of formulae and other allocation methods is heavily dependent 
upon the quality of data and other information passed from the local level to the 
centre.  A number of funding formulae are in use within England, including separate 
ones for local government, schools, housing, the NHS and learning & skills. 

If the allocation formulae effectively reflected the need to spend of particular services 
from place to place, and if the data used within the formulae are up-to-date and 
accurate, the costs of particular spending needs will be quickly registered and funded 
precisely.  In effect, the national formula would react to local expenditure need and 
move resources to meet it in broadly the way an autonomous local government might 
– if it had the freedom to determine its own resources locally.

However, if the formula and/or data are out-of-date or inaccurate, there will be a 
mismatch between the emergence of new spending demands and the capacity to meet 
them.  Unfortunately, there is much evidence that the local government, schools and 
housing funding formulae in use in England are most unlikely to react to changing 
demography rapidly enough to ensure new demands for services are met. 

Thus, for example, the Formula Grant which is used to equalise between authorities 
for spending need variations (and separately for differences in the tax base) does not 
directly measure the costs of disproportionate transience or mobility.  There are 
indicators within the formula that use numbers for  “low achieving ethnic groups” and 
“children in black ethnic groups” as proxies for the higher costs deemed to be 
associated with some minority ethnic populations.  There is a judgemental allowance 
for population “sparsity” in rural areas and for “area costs” in higher-cost authorities.  
But there is no explicit factor within the formula grant for mobility or the costs of 
transience or for cost-drivers such as the need for language services or political 
management issues. 

Difficulty of measuring transience may itself make including such a measure within 
formulae very difficult. The research that has been undertaken for the current report 
suggests there are significant problems in defining mobility or transience, particularly 
within a city such as London where there have been significant changes in the trend of 
mobility.  There is no systematic evidence about the costs of transience and thus it has 
hitherto been difficult to present methodologically robust arguments that central 
grants should start to reflect such costs. 

42

69



Moreover, changes in recent years to the operation of the Formula Grant system will 
have further limited the possibility that new or evolving expenditure needs could be 
reflected in the distribution of resources.  First, the government has largely frozen the 
formula used.  Second, damping mechanisms (technically known as ‘floors’) have 
been built into grant distribution to limit the scale of changes from year to year. Third, 
schools’ funding has been ring-fenced and is now largely allocated between 
authorities on the basis of a near-flat percentage increase from year to year.  The 
extent of year-to-year differentiation in grant allocation has been significantly reduced 
as compared with the way the system operated in the past.   

Perhaps the only hope for authorities with new or emerging spending needs is that the 
government will be prepared to recognise them in judgementally-determined targeted 
grant based on a proxy measure with replicates the characteristics of highly mobile 
areas. It seems less likely than in the past that formula-based grants will be made 
sensitive to emerging needs.      

43

70



7. Conclusions

This study of mobility and transience has attempted to research the experience and 
knowledge of London boroughs so as to broaden the understanding of a complex set 
of issues.  Most people would assume that an increase in population mobility and 
transience would produce costs and social change issues, particularly in the urban 
centres where it has long been recognised that a rapidly-changing population can have 
challenging consequences. 

The research shows that London boroughs have faced a significant increase in 
international in-migration, a parallel rise in out-migration to the rest of the United 
Kingdom, and consequent changes in the resident base.  No other part of the country 
faces anything like it in terms of scale and complexity.  There is relatively little 
literature on the subject of mobility and even fewer quantitative studies of the issue.  
For example, a recent study of migration to rural areas (Commission for Rural 
Communities, 2007) made no estimates of the service costs of the changes shown.  
This absence is explained partly by the relative novelty of mass international in-
migration to the UK and partly by the difficulty in finding a precise way of 
researching ‘mobility’ and ‘transience’. 

Mobility is not a simple issue.  For a start, not all mobility drives up costs.  Some new 
migrants demand very few services.  Some, by their aspirational behaviour, improve 
the quality of public service outcomes and thus, at the very least reduce cost 
pressures.  Interviewees made clear that some migrants were of this latter kind. 

Moreover, mobility and transience issues are often confused with phenomena such as 
migration, ethnicity and asylum seeking.  Any or all of these factors are likely to 
generate costs and/or cohesion consequences for London boroughs.  But they are not, 
of themselves, ‘mobility’ costs.  It may be difficult to separate out some of the public 
service costs of, say, new migrants from mobility as such. 

Nevertheless, the research conducted strongly suggests there are costs and social 
cohesion consequences that flow from increased mobility to London.  A more mobile 
population is, in many cases, likely to weaken the conditions that support cohesion. 
DCLG’s own research has accepted this point (DCLG, 2006a). 

Some services self-evidently face costs associated with mobility.  Schools that face 
very high turnover of pupils can identify costs (some of which are cited above) that 
result from the regular movement of children in and out of their institutions.  Housing, 
which is a major challenge to London, can identify costs related to homelessness, 
hostels, asylum and rough sleepers.  A tiny proportion of the population, often highly-
mobile, find themselves destitute and thus become entitled to receive limited local 
funds.

London boroughs face mobility costs that, though hard to measure, are real.  The 
rapid change in the capital’s population in recent years means these pressures will 
remain ‘above trend’. Of course, there are a number of other councils in broadly 
similar positions, though some of them, eg Slough, adjoin London.   

44

71



In a country with a highly-centralised public finance system, sensitivity to the needs, 
costs and cohesion questions posed by mobility will inevitably focus back on 
Whitehall.  The relatively inflexible nature of many funding formulae, and the poor 
data upon which many of them are based, means that the government is likely to have 
to look to targeted resource streams to meet the additional needs of authorities with 
high mobility-related costs.  The political risks involved in failing to meet the 
cohesion needs of areas with mobile populations could be significant. 

The research base needs to be improved.  The Government itself should undertake 
work to assess the order of magnitude of the costs that come with mobility and 
transience of different kinds.  There would need to be an agreed way of understanding 
and defining these concepts. 

None of this would be impossible.  The British Government often says it wishes to 
pursue evidence-based policy.  The measurement of mobility and transience, and the 
costs associated with delivering public services in areas challenged by rapid change, 
would be a good place to undertake research.  London councils would provide a rich 
basis for study. 

45

72



Appendix A:  Selective Literature Survey 

There are few studies that specifically focus on population mobility of turnover in 
London. In general, academic literature and policy documents focus on the impacts of 
international migration and/or ethnic minority populations on community cohesion. 
When documents investigate population turnover they tend to focus on particular 
groups, whose arrival or mobility creates specific problems for public services 
delivery in the boroughs, such as children, asylum seekers or homeless people.   

The documents described below are some that provide information of relevance to the 
current research.  Most of these studies do not provide any quantification of the cost 
of population mobility or hard evidence of the measurable impacts of the disturbance 
caused by impacts on local cohesion. It is not a full survey of every report that has 
ever been undertaken on mobility and transience.  Moreover, some studies will be 
separately discussed in a section on housing and homelessness later in the report.  But 
the documents considered here give a flavour of the kind of research that has been 
undertaken about mobility and transience in Britain. 

A.1 Implications of population mobility 

URBACT study:  Building Sustainable Urban Communities, GLE, 2005 

The URBACT study is the most comprehensive study of transience and population 
mobility achieved.  It was lead by a team from Greater London Enterprise (GLE) in 
partnership with researchers from Berlin, Brussels and the Association of London 
Government. The study was supported by the European Regional Development Fund 
through URBACT. The URBACT Programme is intended to develop exchanges of 
experience between European cities and organisations working within them. 

The study “aims to provide an overview of the population mobility trends at the local 
level and provide recommendations to improve local service provision and delivery, 
ensuring a greater responsiveness to changing local needs” (URBACT study, p 4).  

The definition of mobility used in the study was as follows: “residential mobility rate 
can be considered as rate of population changing their address during a fixed period of 
time’” (URBACT study, p 7)   This concept nevertheless needed to embrace a number 
of related factors, eg: 

- churn which is described as ‘highly localised’ and related to ‘turnover’; 
- migration, relating to ‘moves over a longer distance’; 
- frequent mobility; 
- transience defined as ‘staying or working in a place for a short time 

only’.

The URBACT study took as its starting point the idea that population mobility has 
increased in recent years due to the role of big cities as ‘magnets’ and the 
development of globalisation. The latter has an impact on migration to cities from 
surrounding regions, from other countries and also on internal mobility within a city.

46

73



The study addressed the difficulty of creating and developing sustainable 
communities. The research project focused specifically on deprived neighbourhoods, 
particularly ‘entry points’ to the cities and what is perceived as mobility leading to 
particular problems, notably international migration and its consequences.  Problems 
faced by disadvantaged groups and linked to high mobility, notably in terms of access 
to public services, was investigated.  The perceived failure of regeneration initiatives 
in a number of such areas is attributed by the URBACT report to population mobility.  
The study also identified ‘non mobility’ as a possible indicator of disadvantage for a 
neighbourhood.

In London, the study focused on specific groups, namely, homeless people, asylum 
seekers, refugees and members of BAME groups.  The project was particularly 
concerned with the higher costs of mobility associated with such groups.  It did not 
consider the positive benefits of population mobility. 

Although there were clear differences between the three cities analysed, the 
methodology of the study was similar in London, Berlin and Brussels, and consisted 
three stages: first, analysis of statistical data, second, a survey-based analysis of local 
mobility patterns and factors behind them, and third the output of focus groups with 
key stakeholders. It also sought to identify and describe best practice in dealing with 
the impacts of population mobility.  

The research findings underline key difficulties in measuring population mobility. In 
the United Kingdom it was found there was no specific or agreed measurement of 
population mobility in use.

The most frequently used data to track mobility in the UK, as highlighted below, may 
not measure frequent moves: 

the population Census (Office for National Statistics): registers up 
to one move in the year preceding the census; 
GPs record new registrations with doctors; 
Housing Needs Survey: examining housing requirements (needs, 
aspirations and demands) in 27 of the London boroughs;  
Survey of English Housing: quantifies households which have been 
in their current address for less than 12 months; 
The Labour Force Survey: undertaken each spring quarter includes 
“information on whether respondents have changed their place of 
residence in the past 12 months”; 
council tax turnover data. 

Records of population mobility involving individuals or families who need two or 
more services cannot be easily shared because of the requirements of data protection 
legislation. In the other two countries, a population register is held: registration of 
newcomers to local authority areas is compulsory, but nevertheless imperfect.  

The results of the study are afterwards summarised, city-by-city for Berlin, Brussels 
and London. General conclusions can be drawn from the city studies in terms of 
factors affecting mobility and reasons for moving.   The main factors behind mobility 
identified in the study were: disadvantage, homelessness, international displacement 

47

74



(asylum seekers), overcrowding and lone parenthood.  Clearly not all of these issues 
are relevant only to international in-migrants. 

In Berlin there is evidence people from ethnic minority backgrounds are more likely 
to move home. The URBACT survey identified the main reasons for moving as 
follows: better access to a range of shops, better accessibility, the proximity of family 
members and/or friends, more convenient access to a religious institution, a better 
socio-cultural and/or housing offer, as well as changes in household composition. A 
mixture of life-stage reasons (change in household composition, friends etc) and area 
characteristics thus appears to be the key driver of mobility. In terms of policy 
recommendations, the Berlin study concluded with a recommendation of a better 
integration of ethnic minorities. In terms of public services, the Berlin study focused 
on schools, the decisions to move being mostly influenced by the quality of 
educational services.

The Brussels study recorded increased mobility and also tended to focus on migration 
patterns more than on mobility as such. The impacts of the procedures of 
naturalisation within Belgium were quantified. Population mobility is identified as a 
factor that ‘destabilises the economy and labour market’: people are seen as moving 
to Brussels to find a job and then out of the city once they have found employment, 
creating problems for tax ‘flight’ as middle class and more affluent people move out 
of Brussels.  The price of housing and a lack of rented affordable housing are also 
recognised as key factors resulting from population mobility. The Brussels study 
focuses on access to social services by disadvantaged groups and actions taken in 
order adapt legislation and procedures to, for example, allow people without an 
address to be recorded by social services providers and to encourage refugees to have 
better access to public services.

In London, attention was drawn to the existence of a core of frequent movers 
(Fordham Research, 2005) and on the positive role of a choice-based system of 
accommodation allocation in preventing turnover (study on Glasgow in Living in and 
leaving poor neighbourhood conditions in England, Kearns A., Parkes A., 2002).   
The URBACT study provides its own literature review about population mobility in 
London.  The findings of the URBACT literature review were then used alongside the 
results of a survey of  London boroughs, including focus groups.

Three types of population residential mobility were identified, on basis of the London 
Analytical Report (ODPM, 2003):  

students living in private rented accommodation, mostly changing 
from year to year; 

transient workforce spending the beginning/height of their career in 
London before moving on; 

asylum seekers in temporary accommodation around London and 
moving through London  (URBACT study, p 38, citing ODPM, 2003) 

URBACT recognised that the first two kinds of mobility might be considered as part 
of the “normal” mobility of a city.  The movement of asylum seekers raises concerns 

48

75



about the instability and costs that temporary households can generate for local public 
services (and, indeed, for the life chances of the individuals concerned).  The study 
also considered “micro” and “macro” – personal reasons for movement or 
institutional/economic/social ones.  The report is also clear that not all mobility is 
costly or problematic.   

Looking at mobility and vulnerable groups, the URBACT team concluded “the 
experiences of residential mobility and how these link to situations of disadvantage 
cannot be summarised as a simple set of trends and patterns”.  However, the most 
vulnerable among those that move most frequently were seen as being: “homeless 
people, asylum seekers and refugees and people from black and minority ethnic 
origin”.  The report then discussed (URBACT study, pp 45-50) the consequences of 
mobility for these vulnerable groups.  Some of these consequences include barriers to 
access and language problems.  The implication of barriers of this kind is that there is 
pent-up demand from new migrants to London and other cities.

The impact on public services is seen as threefold: mobility impacts on the type of 
services that have to be provided, on the way services are provided, and on the ability 
of public services to meet targets.   Public services on which an impact has been 
identified by boroughs through the URBACT survey and focus groups were the 
following :

Education
Pupil turnover has a detrimental impact on a student’s academic 
achievement and cost implications for schools.  Inner London averages 
conceal in-year mobility rates as high as 60 per cent within particular 
schools.  Pupil mobility is worsened by use of temporary accommodation.  

Housing
Mobility, in some circumstances, places additional pressures on housing 
services and can increase demand for affordable accommodation. Out of 
borough placements were a seriously problematic issue, leading to social 
segregation and higher costs for ‘receiving’ boroughs. 

Housing benefits 
High levels of housing turnover affects the processing of housing benefits 
claims.  

Regeneration and worklessness services 
Some evidence that worklessness service provision may be affected in terms 
of target performance.  The difference between active and inactive mobility 
may have reduced the overall employment rate, despite the success of 
programme delivery. 

People with special needs 
 The problems of finding housing stock for people with learning difficulties 
are compounded by mobility. Such additional need generates the need to 
travel to access services. 

49

76



Elderly people 
Increased mobility and dispersal of families has reduced the unpaid care 
available for older people. 

Social services 
A wide range of social services are, according to the URBACT study. 
“certainly” affected by population turnover. Mobility of families makes it 
difficult to keep track of children who are at risk of abuse and also of young 
offenders.

Tracking people 
Increased mobility makes it more likely the vulnerable will ‘fall through the 
net’ of different services.  Some families may move to evade ‘the system’. 

Asylum seekers 
Costs include: the need for translation services, information adapted for 
people from different cultural backgrounds and helping newly-arrived 
people overcome trauma or stress. 

Health services 
People living in poor and/or temporary accommodation are more likely to 
suffer physical and/or mental health problems.  Homeless households tend to 
be high users of accident & emergency services at hospitals. 

Resource allocation 
Mobility affects the accuracy of population figures which are used to 
determine central government grants to local authorities.  There may be a 
disproportionate need for additional spending as a result of new, mobile, 
residents. 

Council tax collection 
High levels of residential turnover can lead to higher collection costs for 
local taxation. 

Environmental services 
Some authorities reported increased difficulties in relation to the provision 
of advice and enforcement in relation to environmental matters, particularly 
at the lower, mobile, end of the private housing market. 

Planning
Planning policy was deemed to be impacted by mobility.  For example, the 
number of single-person households had not been as large as anticipated, 
while the need for family homes had grown.  Data about changing 
populations are poor.

‘Transition services’ 
There is a need for services assisting people as they move from specialist 
support services to mainstream provision as groups such as asylum seekers 
move towards self-reliance. 

50

77



Community cohesion 
Local people believe that transient residents are less likely to become 
involved in the locality.  Civic engagement may indeed be low among new 
migrants. Some new groups are stigmatised by the media, causing local 
resentment.  A mobile population may rapidly change the needs of an area, 
rendering earlier regeneration less successful than it might otherwise have 
been.  Political management will be needed to handle these and other issues. 

Having catalogued the services that are likely to be affected by population mobility, 
the URBACT researchers did not put any costs to them.  In fairness, the project was 
not intended to achieve such an outcome.  The report did conclude “Existing research 
on the impact of population mobility on local authorities and the services they provide 
is still at an infant stage”.  Moreover a “lack of research may be the consequence of 
the difficulty in measuring population mobility”…”Faced with the lack of own 
measurements, boroughs use alternative ways to track mobility such as looking at new 
council tax accounts or GP registers”.  However, even sources such as these are 
unreliable.  Later in the URBACT study, the authors conclude “The direct costs of 
population mobility should be further evaluated and taken into consideration in the 
planning of services”. 

URBACT provided a good, generalised, summary of the kinds of mobility-related 
costs that affect London.  But it did not venture into the more complex territory of 
attempting to put numbers to such costs.  Indeed, our literature study – like 
URBACT’s – has not yielded much detailed quantitative information on the subject of 
services apart from some work completed about schools. 

Crossing Borders, Audit Commission, 2007

The latest study by the public services  section of the Audit commission examines the 
local challenges arising from the rapid growth of work related  migrants.  It notes that 
at the national scale foreign workers now make up 6% of the workforce as opposed to 
3.5 % only a decade ago.  It also notes that most of these workers are young and bring 
no dependents – and  therefore tend to use local services only where a crisis occurs.  
This is more costly per unit – eg a visit to the Accident and Emergency Department 
rather than the GP – but overall generates well below average costs. 
While recognising both the direct costs incurred and concerns about potential social 
tensions – notably from lack of leisure opportunities and lack of knowledge on the 
part of local inhabitants – the report provides not costing. What it does do is stress the 
range of local services that need to be involved,  linked to employment, health, 
education, housing, law and order, and local nuisance and community entitlement and 
the challenges facing authorities across the country in recognising and addressing 
these issues. 

The Commission also stressed the importance of voluntary and faith organisations in 
supporting migrants and in addressing problems particularly those of social cohesion.

51

78



A.2 Migration and Sustainable Cities 

The State of the English Cities report, ODPM, 2006 

The State of English Cities report did not include a specific study of population 
turnover and mobility in London. However, it did include data and information on 
mobility to/from cities and the UK (including London) and provided an overview of 
population change patterns and trends in the past 20 years.

A dynamic view of international migration, described in the report, shows that the 
volume of international migration to Britain has grown considerably in recent years 
and that the pattern and volume of immigration have therefore been radically 
modified since the early 1990s.  A table in Volume 1 of the report contrasted the 
flows of migrants within the UK and from outside the UK to different kinds of areas.  
The results clearly show London’s far greater levels of migration than those 
experienced in other cities or, indeed, less urban areas. 

Table 1 Within UK and international components of total net migration, 
2002-03

            Net flows             Rate (% population 2002) 

              Within               Intern-                 Total                  Within  Intern-     Total 
      UK              ational      UK     ational 

England    -22542              145668              123126  -0.05 0.29 0.25 

South and east 
 London  -112521  77226  -35295  -1.31 0.90        0.41 
 Large cities   -10543  13605     3062  -0.30 0.38 0.09 
 Small cities     -4642  10760     6118  -0.13 0.31 0.18 
 Large towns    16477    5902    22379   0.35 0.12 0.47 
 Small towns & 
  rural    82378    3825    86203   0.86 0.04 0.90

North and west 
 Metropolitans   -28165  23822     -4343  -0.40 0.34 0.06

 Large cities     -7452    7064       -388  -0.23 0.22 0.01

 Small cities      5749    3977      9726   0.19 0.13 0.33

 Large towns    11598    1768    13366   0.38 0.06 0.44 
 Small towns & 
  rural    24579   -2281    22298   0.74 -0.07 0.67

(Source: State of the English Cities report, Table 3.6, ODPM) 

The State of the English Cities report included this table because it made a point about 
the components of population change. But it also shows very clearly the different 
level of migration impact in London as compared to all other kinds of area within 
England.  The ‘turnover’ rate implied by migration within the UK (a net outflow) is 

52

79



significantly higher than for any other area.  For example, within-UK migration in 
London was equivalent to 1.31 per cent of the total population, compared with 0.4 per 
cent of the population in the other metropolitan areas – less than a third the level.  
International migration was equivalent to 0.9 per cent of the population in London, 
compared with less than 0.1 per cent in small towns and rural areas throughout 
England.  The ‘churn’ caused by migration will have increased substantially in the 
period up to 2002-03 as migration in and out of London from the rest of the UK and 
to and from the rest of the world has grown.    

The main outputs of the State of the English Cities report did not examine the impacts 
of mobility.  The authors of these volumes were not concerned with such issues as 
public service costs. It does, however, consider the evidence on social cohesion, 
concluding:  “There has been improvement in social cohesion in most cities in recent 
years.  This reflects better national performance in spheres such as employment, 
health and education…..However….cities still face challenges of social exclusion and 
inequality…..Cities in the north and west face bigger challenges than those in the 
south and east” (SEC, Volume 1, page 154) 

Many other volumes of evidence have been published under the banner of the State of 
the English Cities, including six new detailed research reports at the end of November 
2006.  Towards the end of a detailed examination of social cohesion, the authors 
conclude that “the dynamics of social cohesion are indeed complex and reflect a 
mixture of local and external forces that interact in ways that can be difficult to 
disentangle fully, let alone identify appropriate policy interventions”.  At the very end 
of the study of social cohesion, the researchers state: “More substantial support is 
often required for localities struggling to cope with the special needs of asylum 
seekers, refugees and other new arrivals.  Central government does sometimes not 
appear to respond quickly enough, or to be sufficiently sympathetic to the extra 
demands new residents make of local services, including schools, social care, housing 
and health, especially where English is not the first language and cultural 
backgrounds differ markedly.  Where existing communities are already vulnerable 
and experiencing economic distress, the arrival of new communities can exacerbate 
social tensions and generate simmering discontent” (State of the English Cities  Social 
Cohesion, DCLG, 2006, page 280) 

Although the State of the English Cities suite of reports and research did not directly 
address the impact of mobility on public services, they did publish a number of useful 
data and conclusions that add weight to the research base about the scale of mobility 
in London and its likely impacts. 

A.3 Schools 

Moving Home and Changing School, Widening the analysis of pupil mobility,
David Ewens, DMAG Briefing 2005/32, November 2005 

Statistics of Schools in London: Key Facts 2001-2005, Karen Osborne, DMAG 
Briefing 2005/41, November 2005, ISSN 1479-7879 

The DMAG documents – published by the Greater London Authority – provide an in-
depth analysis of the impact on pupils of moving schools and home. The publications 

53

80



are thus focused more on the impact on pupils themselves than on the impact on 
schools and other public institutions. Nevertheless, studies of this kind can provide 
valuable general information about why pupils that move regularly can be more 
challenging and expensive to educate (thus increasing institutional costs) than pupils 
who rarely or never move. The study uses information from the 2002 and 2003 
National Pupil Dataset, the annual pupil census.

The definition of mobility used was thus: “pupil mobility is generally understood as 
the movement of pupils between schools other than at standard times” (URBACT 
study p1). Research conducted in London has focused on children moving schools as 
it appears that “young Londoners are more likely to be involved in moving home than 
in changing schools at non standard times”. Studying the educational impact of 
children moving home is thus likely to produce evidence about the additional costs of 
mobility.

The key findings of the study confirmed that there “seems to be a relationship 
between educational achievements and children either moving home or changing 
schools” .  Of the pupils studied (in the academic year 2002-03), pupils who did not 
change either home or schools were more likely to attain nationally expected levels of 
outcome than pupils whose both home and school changed during the year. However, 
moving home, even without changing school, does by itself have an impact on 
educational attainment. “The association between moving home and lower 
educational attainment may operate independently of the experience of schooling”. 

Moreover the study confirmed that most household mobility within London, at least 
for families with children, takes place within borough boundaries or from/to outside 
London. The study also confirmed that even if some moves are aspirational, 
population turnover might in part be driven by social disadvantage. Indeed: “pupils 
who are entitled to school meals are more likely than other pupils to experience either 
or both domestic or school mobility”. In addition, “Pupils for whom English is not the 
first language are more likely to experience either or both domestic or school 
mobility”.

The study argued for more research on pupil mobility and its impacts on educational 
attainment, deprivation and the ways in which the operation of the housing market 
may interact with these issues. 

Breaking Point: Examining disruption caused by pupil mobility, Association of 
London Government, 2005 

The former ALG (now London Councils) published a study that provided information 
and analysis about the impact of pupil mobility on public services in London.   

According to the study, the impact of pupil mobility was twofold. First, mobility 
caused additional administrative costs for registering new children at non-standard 
times and for building links with parents. These administration costs were quantified 
by the study.  In a primary school, enrolment of a new child, plus work with the 
parents and child averaged 14½ additional hours at an estimated cost of £400 each.  
For secondary schools, the same process represents an average of 29 hours of 
additional work and estimated costs of about £800. Moreover the study also reported 

54

81



that pupil mobility also required unquantifiable work involving teachers and others 
such as extra learning and teaching support staff, which has been estimated to fall 
within a range of zero to 62 hours per child.  Maintaining a record of the educational 
progress of a child is likely to prove difficult if the pupil has frequently moved and/or 
comes from abroad. The report also pointed out that co-ordination between services of 
different boroughs, notably where people live and work in different parts of the city, 
was also problematic and generated costs. 

Second, mobility created disruption within the class, often as the result of a lack of 
language skills among newcomers or difficulties for disadvantaged children facing the 
National Curriculum. Children who had recently moved, or moved frequently, were 
more likely to truant. “Just under half of parents in the survey [of homeless 
households in temporary accommodation] said that one or more of their children had 
missed school because of their housing circumstances. The average amount of school 
time missed by an individual child was 55 days” (p25). Some of the children who 
changed school were also likely to be pupils who were at risk of exclusion from their 
previous school and may have moved to avoid such a penalty. These young people 
were disproportionately likely to cause disruption in classes.  

This twofold impact was found to limit the ability of schools to attain national 
objectives and targets set by central government.  Moreover pupil mobility was 
concentrated in some schools and some parts of the city, which were usually the 
schools which already had the most significant problems and which could not refuse 
to register new children because they had places available.  A school teacher from 
East London, for example, was quoted as saying that “during the course of the year, 
one class admitted 12 new pupils in a class of 30. There was a special needs pupil 
who was placed in that class and within the space of two weeks that class took in six 
new pupils, most of whom had never been to school before” (p20). 

By undertaking research about pupil mobility caused by families moving within the 
temporary accommodation sub-sector, the study also shed light on the unique nature 
of mobility linked to this specific group, which is heavily concentrated in particular 
neighbourhoods and boroughs in London.

A.4 Health 

Millett C, Population Mobility: characteristics of people registering with general 
practices, Public Health (2005) 119, pp 632-638 

The study examined characteristics of people joining general practitioner lists in six 
London practices. The most striking findings were that nearly 40 per cent of 
participants took longer than six months to re-register with a GP after a change of 
address. About 13 per cent of participants took longer than one year and seven per 
cent took longer than 3 years to register.

These findings suggested that mobility had a significant impact on access to health 
services, and an impact on health service delivery. Moreover the article reported a 
lack of research on the difficulties of ensuring access to health services to “discrete 
mobile groups such as patients experiencing acute mental health episodes, the 
homeless and asylum seekers” (p 637). Moreover “coverage statistics for childhood 

55

82



vaccinations, immunization against influenza and breast/cervical screening are much 
lower in London than in other parts of the country” (p637). 

A.5 Housing, Homeless people and asylum seekers 

Literature and statistics reviews give us more information on possible costs 
implications for public services when it comes to the transience of specific groups. 
Specifically, many studies have examined the reasons for moving and the sources of  
unwanted mobility  and underlined the costs and implications of homelessness, and of 
the accommodation of asylum seekers.  

Rossi (1955) argued that mobility was not pathological but was largely a normal 
process enabling adjustment to household circumstances.  As such it is unlikely to add 
disproportionately to costs of services  Kendig (1984) described the decision making 
process in more detail classifying moves by whether they were made by ‘adjustors’ or 
whether they were forced.  This second type of move is far more likely to involve 
local services and tp impose disproportionate costs.  The most extreme form of forced 
move are those that involve homelessness or rooflessness. 

Most studies reveal the poor quality of life for homeless people in temporary 
accommodation and hostels, which on a long term basis, tends to increase the costs to 
society compared to good accommodation conditions. Particularly, bad life conditions 
such as distance from a desired location, affect costs for sectors such as mental and 
physical health, or the ability to maintain employment. Costs of hidden homelessness 
(overcrowding particularly) and their implications for social and health care costs are 
clear but not quantified.

For example the Communities and Local Government report, ‘Places of Change - 
Tackling homelessness through the Hostels Capital Improvement Programme’ quotes:  
“We found that too many people are staying in the hostel system for too long. Poor 
physical conditions and services that don’t motivate people to address their needs can 
reinforce rather than break the cycle of homelessness. Also many more people have 
been leaving hostels for negative reasons – like eviction or abandonment – than for 
positive ones – like finding employment and a settled home”. (p 2) 

Do my kids have to live like that forever? The lives of homeless children and 
families in London, John Reacroft, December 2005. 

Barnardo’s published, in December 2005, a report that similarly calls attention to the 
poor conditions of life in hostels and temporary accommodation, particularly 
denouncing their consequences for homeless families and children. The document, 
through seven interviews, gives examples of poor conditions such as overcrowding, 
distance from desired neighbourhood and school, lack of privacy and protection for 
women escaping violent partners, or even on the lack of support to homeless people 
that increases the mental and health problems of many homeless people – and 
therefore costs.  

The analysis states that the problem is specifically concentrated in London: ‘The 
number of statutorily homeless households in England rose above 100,000 for the first 
time in 2004, compared with 41,000 in 1997.  Unfortunately, this figure is the tip of 

56

83



the iceberg. Many families with children who live in unsuitable and insecure 
temporary accommodation are not included in the statistics. The problem is much 
worse in London, with 62% of all statutorily homeless households in England being 
in the capital.’  (p5) 

Comune di Roma Ufficio Immigrazione, Greater London Authority and Berlin 
Senate and funded by the European refugee fund, Europe, Land of Asylum,

This comparative report examines three European cities, and gives specific 
information on asylum seekers and their accommodation in London.  It points out the 
problem of hidden homelessness and hidden housing needs.

GLA, Destitution by design, Withdrawal of support from in-country asylum 
applicants: An impact assessment for London, Feb 2004 

The GLA report on asylum seekers also draws attention to the connections between 
homelessness and new legal framework and duties for the accommodation of asylum 
seekers  “London has the highest levels of homelessness and concentration of families 
living in bed and breakfast hotels in the country. In 2001/2 over 30,000 households 
were accepted by London boroughs as unintentionally homeless and in priority need – 
around a quarter of all homelessness acceptances in England”. 

“In March 2003 there were 58,597 homeless households in temporary accommodation 
including 7,262 households in bed and breakfast hotels. Approximately 61% of all 
households accepted as homeless in London between January and March 2003 were 
of black or minority ethnic origin – a disproportionately high percentage compared 
with London’s total ethnic population of 32%.  There is an additional (but currently 
un-quantified) group of hidden homeless households – those ‘self placed’ in 
temporary accommodation or living as part of someone else’s household and 
requiring their own separate accommodation. ‘The Government’s national target for 
reducing rough sleeping by two thirds by 2002 has been achieved. But in areas of 
central London the number have reduced by only 48% since 1998 when there were an 
estimated 612 people. In June 2002, there remained an estimated 320 people sleeping 
rough in London.” (p48) 

The report also relates homelessness and rough sleeping, and underlines the costs of 
letting people sleep rough for significant periods. Shelter, citing S Keyes and M 
Kennedy, Sick to Death of Homelessness (1992)/P Grenier, Still Dying for a Home 
(1996) states: “… one study into the health risks of street homelessness suggests there 
is a ‘three week rule’. This describes the period during which people rapidly adapt to 
homelessness in order to survive, and after which it much more difficult to integrate 
back into mainstream society. This particularly applies to young people, who tend to 
adapt quickly to survive the trauma of homelessness. The ‘three week rule’ suggests 
that after that brief period individuals are deskilled to such an extent that that they 
lose the interpersonal, budgeting and simple life skills to adapt readily to being
rehoused. … [and therefore] … often require intensive support and resettlement when 
they are finally housed.”(p43) 

The report points to the potential impacts of asylum seeking and the way people are 
welcomed and taken care of on community safety and cohesion. Changes in policy 

57

84



towards asylum seekers can have repercussions for community safety in London – 
positive or negative – at three levels which are distinct though interrelated: 

public attitudes: risks of hostile action against asylum seekers and 
refugees, and risks of stimulating racism more generally; 
other threats to the safety and security of asylum seekers; 
risks of criminal behaviour by asylum seekers.’ (p 59) 

Other examples like the one of Lambeth explain how rough sleeping endangers the 
individuals themselves as much as social cohesion: “Box 6: Section 55 and 
community tensions – Lambeth, October 2003 Statement by Deputy Borough 
Commander, Lambeth Borough Police, on events following the arrival locally of 
groups of Section 55 asylum seekers. Sleeping on the streets increases the 
vulnerability of the individuals concerned, many of whom speak little or no English. 
There are clear and obvious dangers and I am aware some of the asylum seekers have, 
allegedly, been verbally abused and that stones have, allegedly, been thrown at them 
whilst sleeping. … We treat such allegations with seriousness – we will not tolerate 
any form of hate crime. … The current situation has the potential to seriously damage 
community relations within Lambeth. Some members of the community are spending 
nights with the asylum seekers, to demonstrate their support [for] them, whilst others 
feel antagonistic towards them – divisive issue. Lambeth is a richly diverse Borough 
and I do not want to see the positive relationships, that have been built, damaged as a 
result of this ongoing situation”. (p 60) 

How Many, How Much? Single homelessness and the question of numbers and 
cost published by Peter Kenway and Guy Palmer from the Crisis and New Policy 
Institute

This report, published in 2003, gives some quantification of single homelessness for 
society. Costs include, for example, housing expenditure, such as failed tenancy and 
temporary accommodation; support services; health services; police and criminal 
justice in some cases, unemployment and costs of resettlement.  

“The cost of an individual’s homelessness can run to many thousands of pounds, 
suggesting that there may be an economic case for spending money to reduce 
homelessness. We would particularly draw attention to the scale and importance of 
recurring, time-related costs, such as the costs of temporary accommodation and the 
economic cost to society as a whole unemployment associated with homelessness”.  

An estimate of costs ‘by category of costs associated with single homelessness’ is 
provided (p 22-23):  The analysis first defines the categories of people who can be 
considered as single homeless and provides quantification by categories and a 
regional breakdown for 2003 (p 25).

58

85



It is interesting to note that the problem is more concentrated in London than in other 
regions.

Categories cited are “rough sleepers, those who have been provided with supported 
housing for whatever reason (hostels, YMCA, shelters), Bed and Breakfast and other 
boarded accommodation, people at imminent risk of eviction, squatters, involuntary 
sharing – concealed households sharing overcrowded accommodation, involuntary 
sharing – concealed household sharing accommodation which is not overcrowded”. 
The counts of homelessness are then based on an extended definition of homelessness 
that includes hidden homelessness.

The study also proposes a breakdown and identification of unit costs linked with 
homelessness. It identifies both hard costs and soft costs. Costs of homelessness are 
various “Not just to local authorities, the health service or the voluntary agencies 
providing help and support but also to both homeless people themselves and to those 
who helped them” (p 36). Nevertheless only the hard costs, “the ones that mean that 
resources are spent or lost, and which have a direct monetary effect”, which “usually 
fall upon institutions in the public private and voluntary sector” have been quantified.  

A.6 DfES and GOL London Child Mobility Project Report of Findings,
PriceWaterhouseCoopers, May 2006 

This commissioned report, focused on London, covered the following topics: 

How child mobility impacts on the Every Child Matters outcomes for 
children 

Types and definitions of child mobility 

Why the challenges are so great in London 

Young people’s experiences of mobility 

Service delivery issues for mobile children including: 

o Cross-cutting issues 
o Issues related to particular groups 

59

86



The report cites OFSTED evidence suggesting that where mobility levels exceed 12 
per cent, there is an impact on standards for all pupils.  Pupil mobility rates exceed 14 
per cent (on average) in inner London and can be as high as 90 per cent in some 
schools.  95 per cent of asylum seekers had been refused GP registration in one of the 
boroughs subject to analysis.

The PWC report concluded that many services would be affected by the consequences 
of mobility among the young: 

“In London, and the local authorities surrounding London which children and 
young people move between, the challenge to be able to adapt is particularly 
high.  This is because of the disproportionately high numbers of children in 
need and looked after children, and the high level of movement in London, 
within and between Boroughs for schooling and other statutory and non-
statutory services”(p5). 

The authors reported that: 

“Linked to the lack of a consistent and agreed definition of child mobility is 
the lack of a consistent and pan-London dataset and data analysis covering all 
forms of mobility.  A range of data sources were drawn to our attention 
through our literature review and interviews, particularly in the area of pupil 
mobility but, there were gaps…..” (p5). 

Many examples of mobility in London were quoted, particularly from OFSTED, 
ODPM and the NHS.  Examples of co-operation between boroughs, joint 
responsibility were discussed as was the cost and complexity of coping with mobility.  
Importantly (PWC are accountants as well as management consultants. Moreover, this 
report was conducted for central government), the report concluded: 

“…funding from central government does not recognise mobility as a factor in 
funding formulae and any weighting is left to  local discretion.  This also has 
an impact on the grants available to organisations focusing on mobility issues 
in the voluntary and community sector” (p8). 

A number of ways children and young people are likely to be affected by mobility.  
Some individuals would fall within more than one category.  The key groups and 
services identified were: 

School pupils 
Asylum seekers and refugees 
Disabled children 
Homelessness and frequent moving 
Child protection 
Looked after children 
Families experiencing domestic violence 
Teenage pregnancy 
Young offenders 
Children with mental health needs. 

60

87



Finally, the report made a number of recommendations for central government, ‘pan 
London working’ and ‘local areas’.   A detailed study of patterns of mobility was 
proposed.

A.7 Services and community cohesion  

There is an enormous literature on mobility and transience  and its impact on 
individuals and communities and lately particularly on migration and social cohesion. 

Department for Communities and Local Government, Moving on: Reconnecting 
Frequent Movers, July 2006.

This document analysed the link between frequent household movement and 
disadvantage. It focused on deprived areas. It aimed to put the issue of frequent 
movement and disadvantage “on the policy map”. 

The document states that “On the whole, population mobility is desirable and positive, 
contributing to economic prosperity, regeneration and a flexible labour market”, it 
goes on to focus on a specific group of frequent movers who were usually difficult for 
public services to reach. This type of mobility “can be less positive, damaging life 
chances and causing or compounding social exclusion”. The report was thus more 
about people than about the impact on public services and was to be used to ‘help plan 
and deliver better services for people who are moving’. As such, services are 
“commissioned by local authorities and must be developed within the local context”, 
this report is particularly important for London boroughs.  

The report underlined that, within the 27 areas with a very high population turnover, 
the highest rates were to be found in London. Nevertheless, within this turnover, the 
rate of repeat or frequent moves was not known. Within New Deal for Communities  
areas, it appeared that a high proportion of the population was moving frequently, 
particularly people who had applied for refugee status.

The study also gave information about the sensitivities of frequent movers. From a 
New Deal for Communities survey, it was shown that in comparison with non 
movers, frequent movers “feel less like part of the community” (just over 20 per cent 
for frequent movers and slightly above 40 per cent for movers), “feel less like they 
like they are in a place where neighbours look out for each other” (about 45 per cent 
and 65 per cent), “feel less trusting of health services”, “less satisfied with the police” 
and “are more likely to depend on benefits” (about 35 per cent and 20  per cent). 

Nevertheless, drawing conclusions from these results must be attempted with care. 
Reactions might be related to high levels of deprivation or personal factors rather than 
resulting from frequent mobility. Moreover, the concept of ‘community’ is unclear 
and can be interpreted differently by different people, from a local neighbourhood to a 
much wider or alternative kind of community.

The DCLG report also made it clear that frequent movements by disadvantaged 
people were not necessarily out of choice, but might be the result of difficulty of 
finding settled accommodation. Many moves were the result of deliberate decisions 
taken by councils as, for example, was the case for victims of domestic violence or 

61

88



gypsies and travellers. Moreover, access to services might be more difficult for 
frequent movers because they did not know about “services that are available or how 
to find them”, “difficulties in accessing a number of services and being unable to link 
them without help”, “finding that there are not enough services in the area” and 
“finding it difficult to trust services because of personal problems or previous 
experiences” The study concluded that education and health were the two services 
where the impacts of mobility were most likely to be felt. The report showed that 
routine, as well as preventive health care visits did not occur. Registrations with GPs 
were low among frequent movers.  

The report gave an overview of the type of problems and additional burdens service 
providers might face when they are working in areas of high population turnover. 
Recommendations were made to improve the provision of services to help people to 
find stable accommodation and to give them ongoing support to help manage and 
sustain their tenancies. The report also highlighted a number of possible service 
impacts, without quantifying them.  Such impacts included: (i) problems related to 
“records transfer and continuity of care”, and the inflexibility (and immobility) of 
funding streams that did not easily allow to ‘follow people across boundaries’.

Finally, possible impacts on community cohesion were considered. The study stated 
that mobility can “create feelings of anxiety and have a de-stabilising effect on long 
term residents”, “cause fears that the community identity will change”, “give rise to 
perceptions of ‘special treatment’ for newcomers” and “lead to mixed feeling among 
communities about specialist services that may be offered”.  

House of Commons ODPM: Housing, Planning Local Government and the 
Regions Committee, Social Cohesion , Sixth Report session 2003/04 HC45-1 

This inquiry was undertaken in the light of riots in Northern cities. While it accepts 
the LGA/Home Office definition it makes it clear  that the most important aspects 
relate to ethnic minority issues and should not be seen mainly as a law and order 
issue.

Many of the issues raised relate to questions about the use of funds and the 
transparent provision of services to all groups.  As such it addresses the other side of 
the cost coin in that competition  for services in short supply can lead to tension and a 
breakdown in social cohesion. Others relate specifically to the problems of increasing 
diversity and lack of knowledge of minority needs and interests. Particular groups,   
such as young people  and vulnerable households are seen as more difficult to 
integrate.  However while these problems are very real they relate far more to 
ethnicity and inmigration than to mobility as such. 

Housing is seen as a key element in the social cohesion agenda – both in terms of 
causality because of competition for accommodation which is in short supply 
particularly  in the social sector and shortages of adequate housing and in terms of 
potential ways of increasing social cohesion through the development of mixed 
communities May, 1997, Robinson, 2005; Hudson et al, forthcoming).  What is also 
clear from this literature  is that issues of social cohesion are very strongly linked to 
the availability and therefore the costs of services especially housing services.  In this 
sense it is not mobility or even necessarily diversity that is seen as the cause of the 

62

89



problem – but simply growing demand together with issues of entitlement versus 
need.

63

90



Appendix B:  Interviewees 

The following individuals were interviewed, generally by telephone, but in one case 
by email, as part of this project.  None of the findings or remarks cited in the report 
should be associated with any individual. But we are very grateful to them all for 
their time and, in a number of cases, for sending us materials. 

Barking & Dagenham; Ken Jones 

Jim Ripley 

    John Tatam 

Haringey:   Gerald Almeroth 

Hilda Bond 

    Cecilia Hitchens 

Ambrose Quashie 

Hounslow:   Lorelei Watson 

Lewisham:   Ronan Smyth 

Newham   Mary Bradley 

Claudia Shimplin 

Michelle vonAhn

Gerry Tighe 

Redbridge:    Alan Sizer

Westminster:     Nick Bell 

Damien Highwood 

Daniel McCarthy

Martin Mitchell

    Keith Wilson 

National  Housing Federation : Gavin Smart

The project has also benefited from discussions held with Rob Whiteman and senior 
colleagues from Barking and Dagenham, but who were not formally interviewed 

64

91



Appendix C:  Semi-structured Interviews, 
Questionnaire

We are looking to assess the extend to which Mobility (and indeed transience) adds to 
the costs of providing services and to the impact of mobility on community cohesion.  

1. Has the LA commissioned/ carried out any research on the impact of 
population Mobility on the costs of delivery of particular services? If so which 
ones? If so, what were the findings? 

2. Do you regard the population of your Borough as particularly mobile? If so, 
what types of mobility are especially important? 

3. In your own experience are there higher or lower costs associated with a 
mobile population? 
If so can you give examples? If so have these become greater or lesser in 
recent years?  

4. Is it possible to give broad estimates of such costs and the number to which 
they apply? 

5. Are there any particular groups within the mobile population who cause 
particular costs to the borough? 
If so, which are they? Is anything done to reduce these costs? 

6. Are there any good sources of information on this subject, particularly insofar 
they apply to services other than education? 

7. Do you have any convincing anecdotes that would exemplify the issue? 

8. Is there anything else that you would like to add? 

65

92



Bibliography

Association of London Government (2005) Breaking Point: Examining disruption 
caused by pupil mobility  London: ALG 

Atkinson, R and  Kintrea, K (1998) Reconnecting Excluded Communities: The 
Neighbourhood Impacts of Owner Occupation  Scottish Homes: Edinburgh 

Audit Commission (2007) Crossing Borders , Public services national report, 
London: Audit Commission 

Balkman, C and others (1992): Empirical study into the costs of local authority 
housing management London: HMSO 

Bines, W; Kemp, P; Pleace, W and Radley, C (1993): Managing social housing
London: DoE 

Cho, Y and Whitehead, C (2005) Affordable housing in London: Mobility and 
Housing Aspirations, Dataspring Report, No 10,  CCHPR, University of Cambridge 

CRESR (2005) New Deal for Communities 2001 – 2005, London: ODPM 

Commission for Rural Communities (2007)  A8 migrant workers in rural areas,
Cheltenham: Commission for Rural Communities 

Coulthard, M; Walker, A and Morgan, A (2002) People’s perceptions of their 
neighbourhood and community involvement: Results from the social capital module 
of the general Household Survey 2000 London: ONS 

Department of Communities and Local Government (2006) State of the English Cities  
Social Cohesion, by Ivan Turok et al, London: DCLG 

Department of Communities and Local Government (2006a) Moving on : 
reconnecting frequent movers, London: DCLG 

ECOTEC (2004) Providing interpretation and language services to job seekers,
London: DWP 

Hackney (2006) Population Mobility in Hackney, Strategic Policy and Research, 
London: London Borough of Hackney 

Home Office (2001) Migration: an economic and social analysis, by Stephen Glover, 
Ceri Gott, Anais Loizillon, Jonathan Portes, Richard Price, Sarah Spencer, Visanthi 
Srinavasan and Carole Willis, RDS Occasional Paper 67, London: Home Office 

House of Commons (2007), Hansard, 16 January 2007, Written Answers, Col 
1100W, London: TSO 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/index.asp?id=1501522

66

93



House of Commons ODPM: Housing, Planning Local Government and the Regions 
Committee, Social Cohesion , Sixth Report session 2003/04 HC45-1 

Hudson, M, Phillips, J Ray, K and Barnes, H (forthcoming spring 2007) 
Understanding social cohesion: everyday interactions in diverse communities, York,
Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Kendig, H (1984) Housing careers, life cycle and residential mobility: implications 
for the housing market, Urban Studies, vol 21 

King, M (2006) Evidence given by Mervyn King, Governor of the Bank of England to 
House of Lords Economic Affairs Committee, 31 October 2006, Minutes of Evidence,
First Report, HL Paper 14, Session 2005-06, London: TSO 

LGA/Home Office (2002) Guidance on Community Cohesion, London: LGA/Home 
Office

London Research Centre, (1997)  Cosmopolitan London Past, Present & Future, by 
Marion Storkey, Jackie Maguire and Rob Lewis, London: London Research Centre 
London: ONS 

Loughlin, J and Martin, S (2005) Options for Reforming Local Government Funding 
to Increase Local Streams of Funding: International Comparisons, a paper produced 
for the Lyons Inquiry, Cardiff: Cardiff Business School 

May, J (1996) Globalisation and the politics of place: Place and identity in  an Inner
London Neighbourhood.  Transactional Institute of British  Geographers, No 21 

ODPM (2003a) Revised formulae for the allocation of management and maintenance 
allowances within HRA subsidy London: ODPM 

ODPM (2003b) The allocation of management and maintenance allowances within 
HRA subsidy: Consultation paper London: ODPM 

Office for National Statistics (2004) International Migration Migrants Entering or 
Leaving the United Kingdom and England and Wales 2004 Series MN  no31

Office for National Statistics (2006), Regional Trends 39, London: TSO

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2006) State of the English Cities Report, by 
Michael Parkinson et al, London: ODPM

Parkes, A and Kearns, A (2004) The multi-dimensional neighbourhood and health: A 
cross-sectional analysis of the Scottish Household Survey Bristol: Bristol centre for 
Neighbourhood Research, CNR Paper 19 

PriceWaterhouseCoopers (2006) DfES and GOL London Child Mobility Project 
Report of Findings, London: PriceWaterhouseCoopers 

67

94



Richardson, K and Corbishey, P (1999) Frequent moving: Looking for love? York:
YPS

Robinson,  D (2005) The Search for Community Cohesion: Key themes and dominant 
concepts for the public policy agenda, Urban Studies, vol 42, no 8 

Rossi, P (1955) Why Families Move, New York, Free Press 

Scott, S (2000) Good practice in housing management: A review of the literature 
Edinburgh: Scottish Executive 

HM Treasury (2006) Pre-Budget Report Investing in Britain’s potential: Building our 
long-term future, Cm 6984, London: TSO 

68

95



69

96



 

 
DISTRIBUTION LIST MUNICIPAL YEAR 2008/09 
 
COMMITTEE: SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE C  
 
NOTE:  Please notify amendments to Scrutiny Team (0207 525 7224) 
 
 

OPEN COPIES OPEN COPIES 

 
MEMBERS/RESERVES 
 
Councillor Toby Eckersley (Chair) 1 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai (Vice-Chair) 1 
Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle 1 
Councillor Aubyn Graham 1 
Councillor Richard Livingstone 1 
Councillor Jane Salmon 1 
Councillor Mackie Sheik 1 
 
Councillor James Barber [Reserve] 1 
Councillor Robin Crookshank-Hilton [Reserve] 1 
Councillor Mary Foulkes [Reserve] 1 
Councillor Adedokun Lasaki [Reserve] 1 
Councillor Robert Smeath [Reserve] 1 
 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 

 
Councillor Nicholas Stanton    1  
                                                   
 
OTHER MEMBERS 

 
Councillor Fiona Colley 1 
 

 
 
 
Libraries 3 
Local Studies Library 1 
Press 2 
 
Scrutiny Team SPARES 20 
 
Nikki Fashola, Legal Services 1 
Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny 1 
Jim Fitzgerald, Liberal Democrat Political Assistant 1 
John Bibby, Labour Political Assistant 1 
 
 
 
DEPARTMENTAL OFFICERS 
 
Kwabena Owusu Agyemang, Analytical Hub                   1 
Dan Gilby, Corporate Strategy                                          1 
Fran Biggs, Electoral Services                                          1 
Duncan Whitfield, Finance Director                                  1 
 
 
TRADE UNIONS 
 
Roy Fielding, GMB/APEX Office, Manor Place Depot 
30-34 Penrose Street, SE17 3DX 1 
 
Mick Young, TGWU/ACTS, 177-179 Walworth Rd 
London SE17 1RW 1 
 
Euan Cameron, Unison, 177-179 Walworth Rd, 
London SE17 1RW 1 
 
  
 
 
TOTAL HARD COPY DISTRIBUTION 51 
 
 

 
 

HARD COPIES OF THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE ON REQUEST FROM THE SCRUTINY TEAM Tel: 0207 525 7102 
 
 
 


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Strengthening the census work for the 2011 count
	Population mobility and service provision (report for London Councils)

	

